
 
BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 
    Meeting: Wednesday, 26th May, 2021 

  at 2.00 pm (Banqueting Hall) 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Link to view Live Stream via YouTube  
 

 

The Council will be live streaming the meeting on to the Barrow Borough Council YouTube 
Channel and can be watched live via the below link. 
 

The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt 
items. 
 

To view the meeting online click this link 
 

PART ONE  
 

 

1.   Urgent Items 
 
To note any items which the Chairman considers to be of an urgent 
nature.  
 

 

2.   Delegations 
 
To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Admission of Public and Press 
 
To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda. 
 

 

4.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting). 
 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBYFa9sjxuGwCW5BQwu9mlw/live


 

Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.   
 

5.   Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members.   
 

 

6.   Confirmation of Minutes 
 
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 23rd March, 2021. 
 

5 - 20 

7.   Public Participation 
 
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make 
representations or present a deputation or petition at this meeting 
should apply to do so by no later than 5pm two working days before 
the meeting. Information on how to make the application can be 
obtained by viewing the Council’s website www.barrowbc.gov.uk or 
by contacting the Democratic Services Team at 
(jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk) or by telephone on (07825206525). 
  
(1) Questions and Representations 

To receive any questions or representations which have been 
received from members of the public 

  
(2) Deputations and Petitions 

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been 
received from members of the public. 

 
 

 

8.   Terms of Reference 
 
To note the revised Terms of Reference for the Executive Committee. 
 
 

21 - 24 

9.   Drop Zone Youth Project Presentation 
 
Presentation by Cath Corkill on the Drop Zone Youth Project 
 
 

 

FOR DECISION  
 

 

(D) 10.   Cumbria CVS   
 
To consider a request for funding from Cumbria CVS. 
 

25 - 28 

(D) 11.   Job Evaluation   
 
To request approval to commence the Job Evaluation project. 
 
 
 

29 - 32 

http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/


 

(D) 12.   Barrow Borough Council's Responses to DEFRA's Consultation on 
the Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging and the Deposit 
Return Scheme   
 
To consider the responses to the Extended Producer Responsibility 
for Packaging Waste (EPR) and The Deposit Return Scheme (DRS). 
 

33 - 120 

(D) 13.   Brownfield Land Release Fund (BLRF)   
 
To seek delegated approval to submit an application for Marina 
Village to the Brownfield Land Release Fund. 
 

121 - 124 

(D) 14.   Heating and Ventilation Service Contract   
 
To update Members on the recent tender exercise for the services 
contract for maintenance of Heating and Ventilation equipment in 
Council buildings. 
 

125 - 128 

PART TWO  
 

 

(D) 15.   Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
 

129 - 132 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION BY VIRTUE OF PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 
ONE OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 
 

 

NOTE  (D) – Delegated 
  (R) – For Referral to Council 
 
Membership of Committee 
 
Councillors Barlow 

Biggins 
Blezard 
Brook (Chairman) 
H. Edwards 
Hamilton 
Maddox 
W. McClure 
Morgan 
Pemberton 
L. Roberts (Vice-Chair) 
Ronson 
 

For queries regarding this agenda, please contact: 

 Jon Huck 
Democratic Services Manager 
01229 876312 
jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 
Published: Tuesday 18th May, 2021 



 

 



 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

Meeting: Tuesday 23rd March, 2021 at 
2.00 pm. (Virtual Meeting) 
 

PRESENT: - Councillors Brook (Chairman), Roberts (Vice-Chairman), Barlow, 
Biggins, H. Edwards, Hamilton, McClure, Maddox, Morgan, Pemberton, Robson and 
Ronson. 
 
Officers Present:- Sam Plum (Chief Executive), Susan Roberts (Director of 
Resources), Steph Cordon (Director of People and Place) (Except Minute No. 142), 
Debbie Storr (Head of Legal and Governance & Monitoring Officer), Janice Sharp 
(Assistant Director - Housing) (Except Minute No. 141), Alec Proffitt (Policy and 
Engagement Officer) (Minute Nos. 123 - 134 only), Caroline Wagstaff (Operations 
Manager - Housing) (Minute Nos. 123 - 132 only), Chris Jones (Property Services 
Group Manager) (Minute Nos. 123 - 138 only), Joanne Smith (Community Safety Co-
ordinator) (Minute Nos. 123 - 134 only), Jon Huck (Democratic Services Manager) and 
Sandra Kemsley (Democratic Services Officer). 
 
Also Present: - Peter Appleton, Andrew Uprichard and Ben Parsons (APSE) (Minute 
Nos. 123 - 137 only). 
 
123 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members 
 
An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Blezard. 
 
Councillor Robson had substituted for Councillor Blezard for this meeting only. 
 
124 – Delegations 
 
It was moved by Councillor Edwards and seconded by Councillor McClure that 
delegated items 8, 9, 10 and 14 in Part One and 21 in Part Two on the agenda be 
moved non-delegated. 
 
A vote was taken, 4 for, 8 against. The vote was thereupon lost. 
 
125 – Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Hamilton declared an interest in any item relating to Cumbria County 
Council as he was a Member of that Council. 
 
Councillor Robson declared an interest in Agenda Item 8 - Growing Forward – Love 
Barrow Together Project as he had undertaken both paid and unpaid work for the 
project. The Love Barrow Together Project was situated in Women’s Community 
Matters – he had occasionally undertaken both paid and unpaid work and as his wife 
was a Senior Officer at Women’s Community Matters. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



126 – The Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985 and Access to Information (Variation) 
Order 2006  

Discussion arising hereon it was:- 

RESOLVED:- That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph 3 (Minute Nos. 137 - 140) and Paragraph 1 (Minute Nos. 141 - 142) of 
Part One of Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 
127 – Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 10th March, 2021 were agreed as a correct record. 
 
128 – Public Participation 
 
RESOLVED:- To note that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions had 
been received in respect of the meeting. 
 
129 – Growing Forward 
 
The Chief Executive updated the Committee on the delivery of the priorities in the 
Council Plan and Growing Forward report since July 2020.  It outlined how the Council 
was working with residents, partners and businesses to take the Borough forward to 
achieve the vision of being a great place to live, work and visit.  The Council were 
committed to putting its residents at the centre of all it does.  The report demonstrated 
how that commitment was being put into practice on a daily basis across all services. 
 
The report gave an update on actions agreed in July 2020, tracked progress against 
specific actions, outlined additional work that had not been defined eight months ago 
and outlined where the Council had been unable to progress at the pace it had 
anticipated.  It also gave an update on the broader next steps. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and  
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
1. To note the progress made on delivering our Council Plan and Growing Forward 

priorities since July 2020; 
 
2. To note the progress to secure funding to start our Poverty Truth Commission. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Edwards and seconded by Councillor McClure that a vote 
be taken on recommendation 3. A vote was taken, 8 for, 4 against.  The vote was 
thereupon carried. 
 
3. To ensure the guiding principles established by Barrow’s New Constellation 

were used to build a stronger relationship between everyone with a stake in our 
Borough as we create a brighter, more compassionate, caring future. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



 
130 – Morecambe Bay Anchor Collaborative 
 
The Policy and Engagement Officer reported that the Council had been invited to join 
the Morecambe Bay Anchor Collaborative by signing up to and utilising the 
Morecambe Bay Anchor Charter.  The Executive Committee were asked to agree to 
the Council’s participation in the collaborative and use of the Charter to plan and 
deliver the six key facets of being an Anchor Institution. 
 
The Population Health team of Bay Health and Care Partners were leading a strategy 
which called on all local Anchor Institutions with the Bay geography to join a 
Collaborative by signing up to the Morecambe Bay Anchor Charter.  The Strategy was 
attached as Appendix 1 to the report. 
 
The Charter would support local organisations to more consistently: 
 
1. Widen access to quality work 
2. Purchase and commissioning for social benefit 
3. Use buildings and spaces to support communities 
4. Reduce environmental impact 
5. Work closely with local partners 
6. Reduce inequalities 
 
Full details of the six key Facets of an Anchor Institution, their associated components 
and six cross cutting key principles, were outlined within section two of the Charter, 
attached as Appendix 2 to the report. 
 
Organisations within the Morecambe Bay Anchor Collaborative would be responsible 
for identifying their own priorities and could select initial activities in line with local and 
organisational priorities.  Whilst the Collaborative allowed for such organisational 
prioritisation, it also provided an opportunity for organisations to work in partnership 
where appropriate to maximise the wider social impact. 
 
Each organisation would be responsible for measuring progress against each of the 
six key facets, utilising a locally developed scoring system, ranking progress either 
bronze, silver, gold or platinum. 
 
The Collaborative would help the Council to focus and join-up the work it had 
committed to deliver through the Council Plan, the LGA peer review and the Growing 
Forward report to this Committee, presented in July 2020.  Particular projects that 
could benefit from using the Anchor Charter were the Poverty Truth Commission, 
Climate Change Action Plan and Low Carbon Barrow.  Having a more transparent 
method of assessing our progress against the six key Facets was likely to help in 
drawing further funding into the Borough through opportunities like the Community 
Renewal Fund, details of which were published earlier this month. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Robson, a vote was 
taken, 8 for, 4 against. The vote was thereupon carried. 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To agree to the Council participating in the Morecambe Bay Anchor 

Collaborative; and 
 
2. To adopt the Morecambe Bay Anchor Charter to guide and assess the Council’s 

progress towards the six key facets of being an Anchor Institution. 
 
131 – Community Wealth Fund Alliance 
 
The Policy and Engagement Officer reported that the Community Wealth Fund 
Alliance (CWFA) was calling on government to release dormant assets for the creation 
of a new independent endowment – The Community Wealth Fund (CWF).  That would 
provide long-term investment, putting left behind communities in charge of the spend 
and enabling them to build the social capital and civic infrastructure that they needed 
to level up their areas.  CWFA believed that the fund would be vital in the medium to 
long-term response to COVID-19, as research suggested that the pandemic had 
further exacerbated existing socio-economic challenges in the identified 
neighbourhoods.  A full briefing from CFWA had been attached at Appendix 1 to the 
report. 
 
A large proportion of people living in left behind neighbourhoods suffered from life 
limiting illness – 24% compared to 20% in other similarly deprived areas.  There were 
just over 50 jobs in these areas per 100 working age adults, compared to more than 
88 per 100 in other similarly deprived areas.  
 
The pandemic had highlighted the vital role communities could play in responding to 
local needs.  Areas that did not have the capacity and infrastructure to respond quickly 
and effectively to the pandemic were disadvantaged; the CWF would place those 
communities at the heart of its work.  Longer term, and more coherent, funding to level 
up such areas was required to effect lasting change. 
 
Research commissioned by Local Trust from the Oxford Consultants for Social 
Inclusion (OCSI), attached as Appendix 2 to the report, had identified 225 wards 
across England which were likely to be the most ‘left behind’.  These were amongst 
the 10% most deprived on the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).  They were also 
the 10% of areas that had the greatest community need according to a new 
Community Needs index.  The Council had one ward in the 225, which was Barrow 
Island. 
 
CWFA believed that the CFW could be funded from both the £500m in the National 
Debt Fund and the close to £900m that would be available initially from the next wave 
of dormant assets. 
 
The CWFA had over 380 civil society, public and private sector organisations signed 
up to support the campaign, and Barrow and Furness MP, Simon Fell, was a member 
of the All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) for Left Behind Neighbourhoods that had 
been established to support their campaign.  The report had listed the 27 local 
authorities that had signed up to the CWFA campaign. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Hamilton, and 
 
RESOLVED: - To agree to the Council committing to support the Community Wealth 
Fund Alliance’s campaign calling on the government to use dormant assets to create 
a Community Wealth Fund, targeted at 225 wards nationally, including Barrow Island. 
 
132 – Draft Customer Services Strategy 
 
The Operations Manager – Housing’s report set out what was required to ensure that 
all customers had a positive experience when engaging with the Council. 
 
Customers were defined as anyone who lived or worked in or visited the Barrow 
Borough. 
 
The Council Plan clearly articulated that residents were put at the heart of all that the 
Council did.  In addition, Covid-19 and the Council’s response articulated in the 
Growing Forward report showed how working with partners had dramatically changed 
the way that customers interact with the Council. 
 
She reported that it was not the intention to not open the Town Hall to the public again, 
and wanted the Town Hall to be a welcoming publically accessible building where you 
can come in to a central point of contact.  It was also recognised that more people 
than ever prefer to do business online at a time that suits them. 
 
The key guiding principles of the strategy were to: 
 

 Fully understand what our customers require and design our services around 
them. 

 Develop use of digital channels to provide access to services when people need 
them. 

 Empower customers to self-serve and make it easier for them to do so. 

 Support access and independence so that if people want a face to face friendly 
contact and cant access online services that they can do that. 

 Deliver services in a streamlined way so that customer contact is effective and 
issues resolved at first point of contact. 

 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Morgan and, 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
1. To agree the draft strategy (attached as an appendix to the report) to inform the 

consultation process with customers; 
 
2. To agree to receive a final strategy taking into account the outcomes of the 

consultation in July 2021; and 
 
3. To agree to receive an Action Plan to ensure effective implementation of the 

Strategy in August 2021. 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



133 – Cumbria Coastal Community Forest Proposal 
 
The Property Services Group Manager provided an update on progress with a 
proposal to develop a Community Forest in Furness and West Cumbria. 
 
Community forests had been established in England for nearly 30 years, and there 
were currently ten throughout the country.  They were typically located near urban 
areas, and were intended not simply to plant trees, but to connect the adjoining urban 
areas with woodland and provide opportunities for people to engage with nature, 
ameliorate climate change, provide habitat for nature and increase wellbeing. 
 
Discussions had been taking place between a number of interested parties including 
the local authorities in Barrow, Copeland and Allerdale, the National Trust, Forestry 
Commission and Cumbria Woodlands.  The intention was to produce a joint 
expression of interest (EOI) for the DEFRA Nature for Climate Fund to establish a 
Cumbria Coastal Community Forest. Funding was available for that purpose from the 
Defra £640m Nature for Climate Fund. 
 
The proposal for a Community Forest including Barrow had the potential to be part of 
the approach to tackling the climate emergency declared by the Council in July 2019. 
It would also support the Council’s Climate Change Policy, and to become carbon 
neutral by 2037. 
 
In particular, within the Climate Change Policy, it would support: 
 
Policy strand 5 – Increasing carbon capture to offset emissions 
Policy strand 6 – Increasing public awareness around climate change. 
 
It would also build on other proposals for tree planting in partnership with community 
organisations such as the Rotary Club. 
 
Officers from the Council had been fully engaged with the initial work.  The local arts 
sector was also already doing valuable work and representatives had been involved 
in partnership discussions, as they were keen to bring their experience of community 
engagement to bear on the project. 
 
The suggested area of the Forest would take in the western half of Cumbria, including 
all of Barrow Borough.  It would also include all of Copeland and Allerdale Boroughs 
and part of South Lakeland District. 
 
The proposal did not envisage that the whole of the designated area would be covered 
in trees, but it would be expected that between 500 and 1000 hectares could be 
delivered over the next five years.  That would provide areas of woodland in urban 
areas to improve the environment and air quality, encourage people living in areas of 
social/financial deprivation to be engaged and improve quality of life/life chances, and 
provide volunteering, training and employment opportunities. 
 
It had been agreed in principle that Cumbria County Council act as financial 
accountable body for the project.  A full governance structure would need to be agreed 
in due course. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



The current work areas included submission of a small grant application to the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority, who were in support of the community forest, for initial 
development costs and to produce an engagement pack to secure wider support. 
 
It has been agreed with Community Forest Trust (CFT) that the group would submit a 
request to Defra (via CFT as the funding administrator) for a 2021/22 funding allocation 
to cover 1-2Fte of project officer resource, plus further development funding (£60k- 
£100k).  Ideally any project officer posts would be embedded in a Local Authority, but 
could be recruited into another organisation if needed.  Set a target for a final approved 
EOI with CFT by end March 2021. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Robson, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To support the principle of establishing a Community Forest; 
 
2. To note and endorse the actions taken so far; and 
 
3. To agree the suggested way forward. 
 
134 – Safer Streets Bid Round 2 
 
The Community Safety Co-ordinator reported that following on from the Council’s 
successful round one bid, the Council aimed to build upon the momentum instilled by 
maintaining the core characteristics of the fund that had made it a success to date, 
whilst making minor strategic changes to best address the feedback and lessons 
learned.  Round one saw activity based in part of Central Ward in Barrow-in-Furness 
and had expanded the area covered and selected a further three Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOA) to be included in the next bid: Central: North West, Hindpool: West 
Central and Hindpool: South East. 
 
All three areas were considered deprived with the Index of Multiple Deprivation ranking 
them at 522, 204 and 836 (respectively) out of the 32,844 LSOAs in England.  The 
dwellings were made up predominantly of terraced homes with weak security, failing 
exterior doors and rear access via alleyways.  Across the three LSOA there are 2190 
households. 
 
The project would provide physical home security measures as analysis of the Crime 
Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) data had consistently found that households 
with more security had lower burglary rates.  Analysis of multiple years of CSEW data 
found that forced entry burglaries fell more than other MO burglaries owing to more 
and better security. 
 
The project would be implemented in three parts.  The goal of the first part was to 
establish a network of local community volunteers, utilising the links in place already 
between statutory agencies and the community.  The Council would host a number of 
community events, as part of a targeted campaign, to engage with local residents and 
encourage them to be involved in the project.  The Council would recruit and train 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



volunteers with the necessary skills to conduct crime prevention surveys within the 
home and provide tailored crime prevention advice and guidance. 
 
The second part would be for the 10 community volunteers to go out and conduct 
house-to-house visits, identifying those that were vulnerable to crime.  The community 
volunteers would conduct a crime prevention survey and offer advice and information. 
If home security equipment was needed, they would make a referral to the Project Co-
ordinator who would be responsible for purchasing and arranging the installation of 
the equipment. 
 
The third part would be property marking using a range of Selecta DNA kits.  Kits 
would be distributed to properties which included a dusk to dawn timer, mini 24 hour 
timer, card defender diamond, a plug in simulated TV, advice leaflets and a property 
marking kit. 
 
A number of partner agencies would be involved in supporting delivery and who had 
strong links with the community.  The multi-agency Barrow Local Focus Hub would be 
a key support mechanism. 
 
The project would run from inception to April 2022 and would be valued at approx. 
£400,000.  Bidders must contribute 20% match funding but that could be in the form 
of contributions in kind.  The match funding would be provided by staffing time of 
existing council officers who would be working on the project. 
 
A bid was being developed on the basis of the details in the report and would require 
the Police Crime Commissioner‘s endorsement.  The PCC required the bid by 18th 
March for agreement prior to the bid deadline of 25th March 2020.  Full details of bid 
criteria and bidding timetable were featured in the Safer Streets Fund 2021 
Prospectus, attached as Appendix 1 to the report. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Maddox, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 

1. To agree that the Director of People and Place be delegated responsibility to 

submit a bid for funding to the Safer Streets 2 Fund, to a value of up to £400,000 

to deliver a project based on the details in the report; and  

 

2. To agree that the Council takes on accountable body status if the bid was 
successful  

 
135 – Organisation Change Policy Update 
 
The Director of Resources reported that the Organisational Change policy had last 
been updated in 2015 and had remained in use since that time.  Whilst the Policy was 
in line with best practice, the upcoming establishment restructure required some 
additional principles to aid a fair and consistent process. 
 
The aspects of the Policy that had been expanded mainly concern assimilation with 
two other changes; ensuring an Equality Impact Assessment at the start of the process 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



and proposing that the pay protection was increased from “up to 12 months”, to a fixed 
12 months. 
 
The Organisational Change Policy was attached as Appendix 1 to the report and had 
been provided to the union for consultation. 
 
The completion of an Equality Impact Assessment strengthened the policy in terms of 
meeting the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 
 
The assimilation procedure was set out within the Policy and in summary would be 
conducted within the following principles using an up to date job description:- 
 
1. Straight assimilation of 70% roles; then 
 
2.  Interviews for those remaining employees at risk within the affected team or 

service and “ring fenced” to apply for roles; then 
 
3. Those not successful at interview were considered displaced and are put “at risk”. 

Any unfilled vacancies from the restructure would be advertised internally within 
the team or service for those at risk. 

 
4. Vacancies that were still not filled at step 3 were advertised internally/externally 

for all staff to apply for, in line with the current Recruitment Policy. 
 
The key principles that Members were recommended to approve were: 
 
1.  The 70% rule for straight assimilation;70% had been decided upon, as that was 

the agreed criterion used in the Local Government (Unitary Authorities) 
Reorganisation of 1996. 

 
2.  Straight assimilation could take place without an interview. 
 
3.  Where necessary posts were ring-fenced for assimilation and competitive 

interview. 
 
4. Early retirement and/or redundancy would be considered for those employees 

that had not been assimilated or offered suitable redeployment. 
 
The policy previously stated that pay protection would be up to 12 months.  The 
recommendation was to fix protection at 12 months which was deemed an acceptable 
period of salary protection and was reflected in other Council policies across the 
region. 
 
The policy updates had been provided to the union for consultation and specific liaison 
meetings had been held.  Management had included the restructure as a standing 
item on the Management Union Liaison Committee meetings. 
 
Council Unison representatives had highlighted key area of the Organisation Change 
Policy for discussion, and potential amendment, prior to the commencement of the 
restructure.  Management had submitted their responses to Unison. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 
It was moved by Councillor Barlow and seconded by Councillor Roberts, and 
 
RESOLVED:- To approve the Organisation Change Policy. 
 
136 – Council Finances 
 
The Committee considered a summary of the General Fund financial monitoring as at 
31st December, 2020 and other related matters including Covid-19 grants and 
Treasury Management. 
 
The Council had been requested to be Accountable Body for the Morecambe Bay 
Population Health Fund. 
 
The Fund aimed to encourage community led responses in helping to address 
inequalities in health: 
 

 £11,300 for the management of small grants, administration, contingency 
community room hire, promotion and equipment. 

 

 £50,000 for funds to distribute to partners referenced in proposal. 
 

 £20,000 investment to start work the on Poverty Truth commission. 
 
If there was to be a bidding process for grants it may be appropriate to extend the 
terms of reference of the existing Covid-19 Local Welfare Support Working Group to 
support the Director of Resources in considering these applications. 
 
The Director of Resources reported on an upcoming funding opportunity that the 
Council wished to pursue - The UK Community Renewal Fund. 
 
The UK Community Renewal Fund aimed to support people and communities most in 
need across the UK, creating opportunities to trial new approaches and innovative 
ideas at the local level.  The Fund would be a competitive process with no pre-set 
eligibility.  To level up and create opportunity across the UK for people and places 
Government had identified 100 priority places based on an index of economic 
resilience.  The Council was a priority place with the lead authority as Cumbria County 
Council. 
 
The submission deadline was 18th June 2021 but the initial date had been reduced 
for this authority to allow the lead authority time to consider which bids were shortlisted.  
For that reason delegation was requested.  The project bid or bids would be reported 
to this Committee. 
 
In order to ensure a strong submission, external support would be retained and would 
be funded from the Major Projects Reserve. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Roberts, and 
 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



RESOLVED:-  
 

1. To note the General Fund financial monitoring as at 31 December 2020;  

 

2. To note the revised budget as £47.82m, including Covid-19 grants;  

 

3. To agree to act as Accountable Body for the Morecambe Bay Population Health 
Investment Fund;  

  

4. To extend the terms of reference of the existing Covid-19 Local Welfare Support 
Working Group to make recommendations to the Director of Resources on 
award grants issued under the Morecambe Bay Population Health Investment 
Fund; and  

  

5. To delegate authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of 
the Executive Committee to submit a project bid or bids to the Community 
Renewal Fund.  

 
Local Government Act 1972 – Excluded Items 
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Hamilton that the 
meeting moved into Part Two, and 
 
RESOLVED:- That the items to be taken in Part Two of the Agenda be dealt with 
following the exclusion of the press and the public. 
 
137 – Leisure Arrangements 
 
The report considered the options for future leisure arrangements. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Robson, and  
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To note the assessment undertaken (attached as a Part II appendix to the 

report;  
  

2. In respect of (1), determine a preferred future service delivery option of a 
Council Owned Company in the event of a change to existing arrangements; 

  

3. Instruct Officers to progress implementation of the preferred future service 
delivery option reporting progress to a Members Leisure Working Group and 
this Committee as appropriate; and  

  

4. To agree that the Director of Resources and the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Chair and Vice Chair of this Committee negotiate and agree a recovery 
management fee as detailed in the report and that the fee be met from Covid-
19 funding.  

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



138 – Building Cleaning Contract 
 
The report provided an update on the tendering of the Building Cleaning Contract and 
invited Members to appoint a contractor for the next two years. 
 
The supplementary report set out the results of the evaluation of the tendering of the 
Building Cleaning Contract. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To approve the continuation of the existing contract until 30 April 2021;  
 
2. To agree the start date of the new contract with effect from 1 May 2021; and  
 
3. To delegate the award of the contract to the Director of People and Place in 

consultation with the Chair of Executive Committee as per the steps set out in 
the report. 

 
139 – Marina Village Waterfront Housing Development Funding 
 
The report sets out the possibility of securing funding and the preparatory works and 
funding that was being sought to secure this investment. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Robson, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. That the Director of People and Place be delegated authority, in consultation 

with the Director of Resources; to accept funding as identified in the report if a 
change request to Central Government is accepted and Business Case 
approved;  

  
2. To note that an application for CLEP Capital Development Funding had been 

submitted; and  
  
3. To agree that a Memorandum of Understanding be signed between Barrow 

Borough Council and Cumbria County Council to effectively deliver the scheme 
subject to a successful bid being agreed.  

 
140 – Contract Update 
 
The report updated Members on the Catering and Cleaning Contract for the Forum 
and Dock Museum. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Morgan, and 
 
 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To receive the update;  
  
2. To approve continued extension of the existing Cleaning and Catering Contract 

for a further month; and  
  
3. To delegate authority to the Director of People and Place as detailed in 

recommendation 3 of the Part Two report.  
 
141 – Organisational Structure 
 
The report proposed the commencement of changes to the organisational structure 

which affirmed the Senior Management Team, strengthens the Management Team, 

and allows the realignment of teams, services and resources to the Council Plan 

Priorities, place shaping and service delivery. 

 

It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Robson, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To approve the restructure of the staff establishment and rationale as detailed 

within the report, which realigned services and functions to better, deliver the 
Council Plan Priorities;  

  
2. To approve the revised Tier 2 level with an increase from two to five Assistant 

Director posts;  
  
3. To nominate a 3:1 proportionate interview panel from the Executive Committee 

Members to deal with the recruitment to the Assistant Director posts;  
  
4. To seek amendment of Paragraph 5 of the Officer Employment Procedure 

Rules to enable the Executive Committee to allocate a place on the Recruitment 
Panel to the Leader of the Council:  

  
5. To approve the inclusion of the relevant Director on the interview panel for the 

Assistant Director; and  
 

6. To note the use of financial reserves for one-off, temporary and transition costs. 
 
142 – Relocation Policy 
 
The Relocation Policy sets out the package offered by the Council for senior, principal 

and chief officers to relocate if they live in excess of 30 miles outside the Borough 

boundary and relocates their home within the Barrow Travel to Work Area. 

 

The report requested a one-off extension to the policy due to exceptional 

circumstances. 

 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Roberts, and 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 
RESOLVED:- To agree that a one-off extension to the relocation package due to 
exceptional circumstances be approved as detailed within the Part Two report. 
 

REFERRED ITEMS 
 

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION 

 
143 – Local Government Reform – Consultation Response 
 
The Chief Executive updated Members on the consultation process in respect of Local 
Government re-organisation. 
 
It had been noted that following Council approval on 8th December of the full proposal 
for a Unitary Council for the Bay Area, this had been submitted to the Secretary of 
State for Housing, Communities and Local Government and further work had since 
been undertaken to update the impact assessment on the subsequent impact on the 
local Police force and Fire and Rescue service areas. 
 
The Government had now confirmed that it was consulting on each of the proposals 
for Local Government re-organisation in Cumbria as follows:- 
 

 The Bay and North Cumbria; 

 Two Unitary in Cumbria:- 
o Eden, Carlisle and Allerdale / Copeland, Barrow and South Lakeland (as 

proposed by Carlisle and Eden Councils; and 
o Carlisle, Allerdale and Copeland / Barrow, South Lakeland and Eden (as 

proposed by Allerdale and Copeland Councils; and 

 Single Unitary for Cumbria (as proposed by Cumbria County Council). 
 
In addition, the Council was also being consulted on proposals for Local Government 
re-organisation in North Yorkshire.  The Chief Executive advised that she would 
consider any response to that in consultation with the Leader of the Council. 
 
The consultation, hosted on the Government’s online platform Citizen Space, was 
open to any person or organisation wishing to express a view on Local Government 
re-organisation and would run until midnight on 19th April, 2021.  It had been noted 
that the this Council, along with South Lakeland District Council and Lancaster City 
Council, were making all of their local Stakeholders and communities aware of the 
consultation and encouraging their participation.  Ward Councillors had also been 
requested to encourage their local residents and communities to respond to the 
consultation. 
 
Appendix 1 to the report had described the approach the Councils had proposed to 
take in responding to the consultation and provided a series of points in respect of 
each proposal submitted by other Councils. 
 
Appendix 2 to the report had set out points for inclusion in additional commentary to 
be provided on The Bay and North Cumbria proposal. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



 
Council had been requested to consider the approach and appendices as the 
framework for the Council’s responses to the consultation and to delegate to the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader, to finalise the Council’s responses by the 
deadline of 19th April, 2021. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Robson, and 
 
RESOLVED:- To recommend the Council:- 
 
1. To receive the update on the consultation process following submission of the 

Bay Unitary Proposal;  
 
2. To endorse the approach of the Council to the consultation responses as 

outlined in the report and Appendix 1;  
 
3. To endorse the approach to submitting additional commentary on the Bay and 

North Cumbria proposal as outlined in Appendix 2 to the report; and  
 
4. To authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader to finalise the 

responses to the consultation for submission to the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government by 19th April 2021 deadline.  

 
The meeting closed at 4.55 pm. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Terms of Reference 

Executive Committee 

Membership Terms of Reference Delegation of Functions 

12 members of 
the authority 

 To formulate, co-ordinate and 
implement corporate polices and 
strategies and make decisions relating 
to such matters to the extent that they 
are not reserved to full Council. 

 To recommend to Council amendments 
to the Policy Framework and policies 
and strategies therein. 

 To oversee policy implementation and 
consider reports relating to 
performance of services under the remit 
of the Committee. 

 To consult on, recommend and monitor 
the Annual budgets. 

 To consider and approve the 
Discretionary Income Policy.  

 To take any necessary decisions 
regarding the delivery of Council 
services and the discharge of Council 
functions, within the agreed policy and 
budgetary framework set by the 
Council, including:- 

o The formation of partnerships and 
agencies; 

o Award of contracts in excess of 
£100,000 (which includes any 
extension periods); 

o To authorise the acquisition or 
disposal of any land, property and 
other assets held by the Council 
(other than those under a Right to 
Buy) with a value in excess of £20K 
providing that any proposal for the 
transfer of housing land which 
requires the consent of the Secretary 
of State shall be referred to full 
Council with recommendations; 

o Agreement of leases in excess of 25 
years. 

See Delegations to Officers 
as set out in Part 3(2) of the 
Constitution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 

 To take into account any relevant 
findings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and to refer relevant matters 
to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 To approve recommendations 
regarding Clearance Areas/ 
Compulsory Purchase Orders and 
renewal areas provided within budget 
provision. 

 To establish a Housing Management 
Forum to advise on all matters 
pertaining to the management of 
Council housing and to operate under 
the following protocol:- 

o The Executive Committee shall 
agree any such recommendations or 
refer back for further consideration; 

o On any resubmission the decisions 
of the Executive Committee will be 
final. 

 To establish standing and ad-hoc 
forums to consider and make 
recommendations on significant policy 
issues.  Such forums which shall 
operate as working parties to be 
politically proportionate and to involve 
lay members where considered 
appropriate. 

 To make interim and Final Management 
Orders under Part 4 of Chapter 1 of the 
Housing Act 2004. 

 To make Closing Orders and 
Demolition Orders under Part 1 Chapter 
4 of the Housing Act 2004. 

 To agree to act as Accountable Body 
where the project is between £50,000 
and £500,000 and satisfies the 
requirements of the Financial 
Regulations. Where the project 
exceeds £500,000 to make 
recommendations to full Council on any 
accountable body proposal. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 8



 

 To appoint representatives to outside 
bodies for those appointments 
delegated through the AGM. 
 

 To deal with any matters relating to the 
Local Authority Trading Company for 
the delivery of Leisure Services (Barrow 
Forward Limited) which are not 
delegated to Officers where council 
decision is needed. 
 

 To approve recommendations 
regarding changes to the establishment 
and fundamental changes to Conditions 
of Service of employees of the Council 
which are outside policy/budget where 
not delegated to Officers and where 
within 1% of net revenue budget. Any 
changes over the limit to be 
recommended to full Council. 

 

 To consider appeals in accordance with 
approved HR policies and procedures. 

 
 

 To deal with the discharge of duties 
under the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Delegated to Appeals Panel 
of 4 Members drawn from 
the Committee. 
 

Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules – Panel of 
4 Members drawn from the 
Committee. 
 
Where dealing with 
disciplinary action relating to 
a relevant officer that panel 
to include 2 independent 
Members as prescribed. 
 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Established 2004

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 9



PREMISES • 39 Bath Street, Barrow-
in-Furness, Cumbria.  
LA14 5TS

• 22A Duke Street, 
Barrow-in-Furness, 
Cumbria.  LA14 1HH

• Middlefield, Ormsgill, 
Barrow-in-Furness, 
Cumbria.  LA14 4BX

• Dalton Drill Hall, Nelson 
Street, Dalton-in-
Furness, Cumbria.   
LA15 8AF

• Rankin Hall, Duke 
Street, Askam-in-
Furness, Cumbria.    
LA16 7AE

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 9



Organisational 
Structure

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 9



EXTENDED 
EDUCATION 
PROJECT

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 9



YOUTH WORK P
age 29

A
genda Item

 9



PRIDE
After a visit to Liverpool 
Pride in 2019 our young 
people asked why we didn’t 
have a Pride in Barrow.  
When they ask we try and 
make things happen so we 
are currently in the throws 
of organising our second 
Furness Pride event.  Last 
year we had a very tight 
timescale to change from a 
physical Pride to a virtual 
event due to Covid.  This 
year we have had loads for 
time to prepare and our 
event took place on Saturday 
15th May 2021.
https://www.youtube.com/c
hannel/UCzzSjNJPYGvsmzlSY
ULr5Yw

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 9



BBC - SUPPORT
P

age 31

A
genda Item

 9



YOUNG HEALTHY CHAMPIONS & FTG P
age 32

A
genda Item

 9



FURNESS YOUTH 
WORK PARTNERSHIP

• FYWP is a multi agency partnership primarily of 
organisations who deliver youth work.  We also have 
advisors from Barrow Borough Council, Cumbria 
County Council, the Police and Health.  Our aim is to 
achieve positive outcomes for children, young 
people and their families in Furness, and to keep 
young people safe.  We work together to ensure 
children and young people are represented and 
their voices are heard.  We create our own agenda’s 
and take it to all the meetings and forums we sit at.  
Through this partnership we have been able to 
secure funding to implement change in the way we 
all work. P

age 33

A
genda Item

 9



FURNESS 
CARERS

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 9



FURNESS
YOUTH
COUNCIL

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 9



MENTAL HEALTH 
SUPPORT

• In 2019 we were able to secure funding from the 
NHS, through the winter pressures initiative, to 
provide mental health support for young people 
within the LGBTQ+ community.  Over the Christmas 
period A&E admissions within this community 
escalate so we were able to offer drop-in sessions 
alongside our delivery to support these young 
people.  The success of this pilot has enabled us to 
receive continual funding from the NHS and other 
funding streams to still be able to provide a service.  
We have now developed the provision and now 
accept referrals from the Police, YOS, MDT’s and 
Family Action.  We have a four hour session every 
Monday working on an appointment basis and are 
hoping to secure further funding to employ a 
counsellor.

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 9



THE FUTURE

• After losing our town centre building in 2017 due to financial 
cuts from the local authority we have had to deliver out of a 
range of buildings that aren’t fit for purpose.  Our aim has 
always been to secure a building back in the town centre that 
we could develop as a youth hub.  After a lot of conversations 
and meetings we have been lucky enough to have secured 
Lakeland House on Abbey Road, thanks to Barrow Borough 
Council.  The building will be used by all our partners and 
support agencies that work with children, young people and 
families.  We will aim to bring back doorstep services to deliver 
quality intervention and preventative work.  The partnership 
element will offer all our young people an increased range of 
opportunities and support.

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

Wednesday, 26 May 2021 2.00 pm 

Cumbria CVS 

 
 

Report from:   Director of Resources 

Report Author:  Susan Roberts 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  This report requests funding of £16,000 for Cumbria CVS for 2021-2022. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee approve the release of 

£16,000 from the Budget Contingency reserve as funding for Cumbria CVS 

for 2021-2022. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 Cumbria CVS (Cumbria Council for Voluntary Service) offers help, advice, 

training and support to third sector groups throughout Cumbria. 

 

3.2 The Chief Executive Officer of Cumbria CVS presented a three year funding 

proposal to Members on 25 January 2021 – The Roadmap to Sustainability. 

 

3.3 Cumbria CVS have produced a single sheet explanation of the offer and that is 

attached as Appendix 1. 

 

3.4 Cumbria CVS has agreed to restart a local CVS newsletter, will share out 

attendance at local partnerships between various officers to raise their profile 

and make their local offer more widely known. 

 

3.5 Cumbria CVS has also offered to do regular briefings for Members and the Lead 

Member for Community has provisionally agreed to two briefings a year.  If key 

issues arise separate briefings can be arranged as and when necessary. 

3.6 It is proposed that £16,000 for 2021-2022 is agreed and the Cumbria CVS offer 

and future funding is reviewed during 2021-2022. 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



3.7 The basis of the single year funding is the reinstatement of the local newsletter, 

two all Member briefings a year plus other sessions as required, and a review 

during the year about future funding. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

 Consultation is not relevant to the recommendation. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 The alternatives are to offer no funding or reduced funding. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The work of Cumbria CVS support the People priority.  Enabling residents to live 

happy, healthy productive lives; in particular the outcome ensuring our 

communities are strong, confident and actively engaged in shaping their future.  

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 The £16,000 would be drawn from the Budget Contingency reserve.  This is not 

a procurement and has no HR implications. 

 

Legal  

7.1.2 There are no legal issues to raise in this report. 

 

Equality and Diversity  

7.2 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No – this is a funding request 
and has no direct Equality and Diversity implications. 

 
 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Funding is provided and the 

activities are not performed. 

Outcomes are not 

achieved but reserves 

are depleted. 

Reporting of activities 

and outcomes through 

all Member briefings 

 

Contact Officers  

Director of Resources directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Making the Case for Barrow Borough Council Support for 

Cumbria CVS: April 2021 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 10



               
Making the Case for Barrow Borough Council Support for Cumbria CVS: April 2021 

1 
 

 
Cumbria CVS provides a range of direct projects across Barrow, supports other voluntary 
organisations and provides representation of the sector across the borough. We also work at 
“Bay” area level and across the whole county. 
 

District Projects In Barrow 

Building Better Opportunities – 
Getting Cumbria to Work 

74 people into work; 65 into education/training.  
46 in active job search (six local partner organisations)  

Grant Management (Eric Wright)  £15kpa to Barrow orgs 

People in the Lead – community  Support to 45 orgs – (value being calculated)  

Inspiring Barrow/Kickstart -  150 students- 75% report increased confidence levels 
15 Primary Schools and 5 Secondary Schools 

Barrow Town Fund Bid group, publicity and community delivery groups 

Bay Projects  

C-19 volunteer pathways C-19 support co-ordination of local response groups 

Barrow/SL H&WB partnership Increasing NHS support/links to local vol orgs 

County-wide Projects In Barrow 

Rebuilding Together – community resilience; LRGs  
Funding Officers – ID funding routes, bid support: £450k+  £134k for Barrow Vol Orgs! 

Community Meals – hot meals to vulnerable adults  
Cumbria Bereavement Support Partnership - £113k Open to Barrow orgs and residents 

Core Cumbria CVS Services In Barrow 

Volunteer recruitment and placement – 2,230  189 

Capacity Building – bids, governance, advice 47 

Advice and Information – web, telephone, email and 1:1 Digital 

Funding Fairs – hosting funding agencies in local areas (7) Digital 

Funding Forums (online) with funding briefings 20 per annum 

Training (32 courses; 720 people/272 orgs)  
Advocacy – Third Sector Networks and Cumbria Compact  

Cumbria CVS Representation 
Barrow: Barrow Town Fund Board; Love Barrow Together; Furness Multi-Cultural Forum; Barrow 
Health and Wellbeing Forum; “Barrow Funders” Partners; CCF grants panel member – Barrow; 
Orsted - Walney - Windfarm Grants Panel; Local Resilience Group 
The Bay area (inc Barrow): Lancashire & South Cumbria ICS Partnership Board; MB ICP Leadership 
Board and Partnership Board; MB Population Health Strategy Group; VCFSE Alliance (LSC ICS level); 
South Cumbria/North Lancs ICC Oversight Group   
County Level (inc Barrow): Cumbria CEO Group; Cumbria Third Sector Networks; C-19 Strategic 
Recovery Group; Public Health Alliance; Community Resilience Group; Poverty Working Group;  
Other significant wins for Barrow: 
Building Better Opportunities: two-year extension from ESF/Lottery to successful job programme 
(worth £725,000 to local partners) PLUS a £48,000 grant from Orsted. 
Barrow Island: completion of £1m community development project 
C-19 Health investment: over £250k for mental health/bereavement charities across the county  
The Barrow Team: 
Ali Greenhalgh, District Manager; Dave Cassidy and Kerry Stockdale, Inspiring Barrow; Julie Sharkey, 
Administrator and DBS; Nat Weallans-Turner, Paula Johnson, Bev Chandler and Lisa Nicholson (BBO 
Project); Victoria Peake (Health and Care Funding Officer) 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

Wednesday, 26 May 2021 2.00 pm 

Job Evaluation 

 
 

Report from:   Director of Resources 

Report Author:  Susan Roberts 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  This report requests approval to commence the Job Evaluation project.  In 

particular to commission the work on job evaluation for staff covered by the NJC 

Conditions of Service which make up the bulk of employees. 

 

1.2 Overall the Job Evaluation project will establish a Job Evaluation scheme which 

comprises the establishment structure, the grading scheme and the Pay Policy. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:-  

 

1. Approve the commencement of the Job Evaluation project; 

2. Approve the direct appointment of the LGA to support the Job 

Evaluation project; 

3. Approve the use of £13,000 from reserves to fund the NJC job 

evaluation work; 

4. Approve the use of £4,225 from reserves to fund the JNC job 

evaluation work. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

 

3.1 This report refers to two bodies, NJC and JNC. 

 

3.2 NJC - for workers in local government and schools, pay and other terms and 

conditions are determined by a negotiating body; the National Joint Council 

(NJC) for local government services.  The NJC is made up of representatives 

from UNISON and other trade unions and the employers. 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



3.3 The Council employs Chief Officers under Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) 

terms and conditions which are incorporated in their contracts.  The terms and 

conditions for Chief Executives are agreed by a separate body i.e. the Joint 

Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives, which also negotiates on a 

national basis.  Within the report JNC covers the Chief Executive and Chief 

Officers – Directors, Assistant Directors and the Head of Legal and Governance. 

 

3.4 The Council is undergoing an establishment restructure which is planned to align 

service provision, resources and processes to the delivery of the Council Plan 

Priorities together with statutory and regulatory functions; this is Organisational 

Development. 

 

3.5 Organisational Development is the process used to improve the overall 

effectiveness of an organisation through managing the behaviours of people 

within that organisation.  The process relies upon consistency and transparency 

for employees and managers.  The elements that are currently in progress are: 

 

 Values and Behaviours programme with Brathay 

o Culture 

o Recognition 

o Managing teams (including remote team management) 

o Managing change 

o Influencing and networking 

o Performance appraisal 

 Leadership 

 Health and wellbeing 

 Training and development 

 HR policies and procedures 

 Establishment/structure review 

 Job evaluation 

 Grading structure 

 Pay Policy 

 

3.6 The Organisational Development Strategy is a current project with support from 

the LGA and was highlighted by the Peer Review as a gap in our arrangements.  

There are many Organisational Development strands that already exist but need 

to be connected together into a single, corporate document. 

 

3.7 Organisational Development is an ongoing activity and a Strategy will allow for 

clear direction, recognition of progress, and will reflect the agility of the Council. 

 

3.8 This report is concerned with the establishment structure and the staffing 

positions and hierarchy that the Council operates within. 

 

3.9 The overall Job Evaluation project includes staff covered by the NJC Conditions 

of Service, staff covered by the JNC Conditions of Service (Deputy/Chief 

Officers) – job evaluation, grading structure and the Pay Policy. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 11



 

3.10 It is proposed that the job evaluation project is supported by the LGA; the LGA 

have workforce specialists and vast experience in job evaluation at all levels, as 

well as the design of grading structures and pay policy. 

 

3.11 Funding of £13,000 for the LGA support of the NJC element is required, and 

£4,225 for the JNC element; the project will also require significant officer time.  

As these developments are part of the corporate implementation of the Peer 

Review recommendations, the LGA may be able to assist with some of the 

project costs – these figures do not reflect any reduction at present.  

 

3.12 The LGA specialists will assess a number of posts against the NJC job 

evaluation scheme and rankings established – all NJC posts will be ranked, the 

initial sample will be a cross-section.  The JNC posts will be assessed by the 

LGA using several factors that are key criteria for the most senior posts in the 

organisation. 

 

3.13 The adoption of the NJC job evaluation scheme and the JNC evaluation criteria 

are Full Council decisions; also the grading structure and the Pay Policy. 

 

3.14 It is anticipated that the NJC job evaluation work is performed first, then the JNC 

job evaluation work, and then a grading structure and pay policy. 

 

3.15 Nothing will be implemented until the relevant approvals have been given. 

 

3.16 When management are in a position to share the results of the job evaluation 

work, the union shall be consulted upon the proposals. 

 

3.17 Progress on the Job Evaluation project will be reported to future meetings of the 

Executive Committee and recommendations for adoption by Full Council will be 

brought forward at the appropriate time. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 Consultation is not relevant to the recommendation – consultation will follow the 

scheme proposals. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 The alternative option is to continue with the current approach to grading posts 

and to consider reviewing and reopening the regrading scheme. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The recommendation concerns staffing which underpins the delivery of all 

Council Plan Priorities and services. 

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

Page 45

Agenda Item 11



7.1.1 To commence the job evaluation work with the LGA a total of £17,225 is required 

from reserves.  This sum may be partially covered by the LGA in recognition of 

progress against the Peer Review.  A direct award to the LGA is requested as 

experts in the field with vast knowledge, experience and the source of good 

practice.  There will be significant officer time required to support the project and 

this will be focused in HR initially; implementation will involve managers. 

 

Legal  

7.1.2 There are no legal implications arising from this report, but these will be kept 

under review as the scheme progresses. 

 

Equality and Diversity  

7.2 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No – this will be part of the 
project. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Equal pay challenge. Reputational damage. There are no equal pay 

issues within the 

workforce. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Staff dissatisfaction with pay. Staff turnover, low 

morale and poor quality 

work. 

Transparent Job 

Evaluation Scheme and 

Pay Policy. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Staff pay budget is limited. Job Evaluation cannot 

be implemented or is 

unaffordable. 

Financial modelling; 

options and any 

consequences identified 

and addressed.  

Contact Officers  

Director of Resources directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk 

Page 46

Agenda Item 11



       PART ONE 

   Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

26th May 2021 

Consultation on the Extended Producer Responsibility for 

Packaging and the Deposit Return Scheme 
 

 
   

Report from:   Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place 

Wards:    All 

 

1.0 Summary and Conclusions  

 

1.1 The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) have issued 

consultations on; 

The Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging Waste (EPR) 

The Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) 

1.2 As a Council we are committed to making the Borough a clean and green place 

to live.  The subjects of these consultations will have significant impacts for the 

Council, with regard to the collection of recycling and litter collection, therefore it 

is important the Council responds to these consultations.   

Recommendation  

(i) To agree the response to The Extended Producer Responsibility for 

Packaging Waste (EPR); and 

(ii) To agree the response to The Deposit Return Scheme (DRS). 

 

3.0 Background  

3.1 Barrow Borough Council is a Waste Collection Authority and therefore has a 

responsibility for the collection and recycling of waste. 

 

3.2 Barrow Borough Council is also a Litter Authority and is therefore responsibility 

for the clearance of litter from on the ground and from litter bins. 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 12



3.3 These consultations will have significant impacts for the Council, with regard to 

the management and financing of the collection of waste and recycling, and litter 

collection, and therefore the questions raised in both consultations have been 

carefully considered and responses provided where appropriate. 

3.4 The purpose of the consultations is to provide feedback from local authorities 

and other interested parties on DEFRA ‘s proposals for the Extended Producer 

Responsibility (EPR) and a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS), there is also a further 

consultation on Consistency of recycling provision, which was issued on 7 May 

2021, with a closure date of 4 July 2021. The deadline for the responses to EPR 

and DRS are 4 June 2021. The Cumbria Strategic Waste Partnership, of which 

Barrow is a member, will also be collating the responses from all six Waste 

Collection Authorities in Cumbria and Cumbria County Council as the Waste 

Disposal Authority and provide a joint response to emphasize the comments of 

Cumbria as a whole.  

3.5     The EPR consultation document contains 213 pages and requests responses to 

104 questions. However, much of the content and a large number of the 

questions are not relevant to local authorities and therefore, only the questions 

that are relevant, are show as Appendix 1. The full response is shown as 

Appendix 3 

3.6     Under the EPR proposals, packaging producers would be made responsible for 

the full cost of managing the packaging they place on the market. This is 

intended to incentivise producers to question whether the packaging they use is 

necessary, could be reduced or not used at all. 

3.7 The key policy proposals within the document are as follows: 

a. Implementation of EPR through a phased approach commencing from 2023.  

b. Proposed minimum recycling targets for the six packaging materials, which 

equate to an overall recycling rate for EPR packaging of 73% by 2030. It also 

proposes the introduction of a recycling target for fibre-based composite 

packaging such as food and drink cartons and single-use paper cups. 

c. Proposals to bring forward targets for reuse in 2023. 

d. Producers of packaging would take on a ‘waste management cost 

obligation’ which would cover full-net costs of managing packaging waste. 

e. The consultation seeks views on a mandatory cup takeback and recycling 

requirement.  

f. Mandatory recyclability labelling is proposed to be introduced as soon as is 

feasible and by the end of 2026/27 at the latest,  

g. Proposed that plastic film and flexible packaging should be required to be 

collected for recycling as soon as is practical, and costs are paid by 

producers. It is assumed that this would be possible by end of financial year 

2026/27. 

h. Until collection and infrastructure for bio-degradable, bio-based, and 

compostable plastic packaging is improved, it is unlikely to be considered 

recyclable, under packaging EPR, and will therefore attract higher fee rates. 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 12



3.8 Materials not in scope of EPR are: 

 Beverage containers that are in scope of DRS, which will be confirmed 

following the consultation 

 Particular household products such as aluminium foil, cling film, jiffy bags, 

and plastic sandwich bags that are like products used as packaging. 

3.9     EPR consultation proposals and assurances to local authorities are: 

a. The EPR consultation proposes that necessary costs to be defined as: the 

costs of the waste management needed to deliver the packaging EPR 

outcomes and targets through the provision of consistent, efficient and 

effective systems.  

b. Full net costs are proposed to include:  

 

Operational Costs Supporting activity costs 

Direct vehicle, staff and container 

costs (capital and revenue) for all 

collection systems used for packaging 

waste (incl. kerbside recycling and 

residual collections, HWRC, bring 

sites, business collections (recycling 

only), and litter management (on the 

go recycling, ground litter) 

Development and delivery of 

communication campaigns and public 

information on issues such as waste 

and litter prevention, correct preparation 

for reuse/recycling, take back schemes, 

and recycling collections. 

Costs associated with establishing, 

maintaining and operating vehicle 

depots, transfer stations and other 

facilities required to support the 

collection and disposal of packaging 

waste 

Efficiency reviews to ensure packaging 

waste management services are being 

run efficiently and effectively (may 

include staff training, collaborative 

working between LAs and value chain, 

knowledge sharing, business support) 

Costs associated with sorting, 

sampling, processing and the 

preparation of packaging waste for 

recycling, reuse and/or disposal 

(capital and revenue). Material income 

to be netted-off. 

Data gathering, recording, analysis, 

reporting and auditing of packaging 

collected, processed, recycled, exported 

and disposed. 

Maintenance of capital items used for 

the collection sorting, sampling, 

processing and disposal of packaging 

(i.e. vehicles, bins, skips) 

Performance incentives, initiatives and 

investment (i.e. financial rewards for 

waste prevention and reuse, optimised 

recycling rates, higher recyclate quality) 

Transportation of packaging waste to 

its final treatment destination (reuse, 

recycling and disposal) 

Contract negotiation and variations with 

waste management companies, LAs, 

MRFs, brokers, reprocessors and 

exporters 

Corporate overheads associated with 

operating waste management services 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 12



proportionate to packaging (IT, HR, 

financial services) 

Marketing costs for selling reused 

items or recycled materials 

 

 
g In establishing the costs for local authorities to deliver efficient and effective 

systems, the type of model (below) would be adopted by the Scheme 

Administrator once appointed. 

 Actual cost reporting which would be standardised across all local 

authorities, audited, and adjusted regularly to reflect their recycling 

performance, any inefficiencies in operations, and the allocation of overhead 

costs between packaging waste management services and other activities. 

 Modelled cost approach (preferred) which would seek to establish for each 

local authority a benchmark cost for managing packaging waste based on the 

adoption of good practice in the design of collection systems, service delivery 

and achievement of results comparable to relevant peer authorities. 

h  ‘Poor performers’ will be supported by the Scheme Administrator (i.e. locked 

into a contract and deciding whether costs borne are proportionate) to 

transition to an ‘effective and efficient system’ at the earliest opportunity. 

3.10 Residual waste payments  

a. In single-tier authorities, it is envisioned that there will be one payment made 

to the authority, which will include a breakdown of the various household 

payment elements (i.e. recycling, HWRC, bring sites). For two-tier 

authorities, the payment process would take account of the waste 

management undertaken. 

3.11 Payments for management of packaging waste arising from businesses 

a. Government remains of the view that the costs should remain in scope of 

producer payments. It is consulting on three payment mechanisms: 

 

 Option 1: Businesses would receive a rebate from producers for recycling.  

 Option 2: Scheme administrator would set a per tonne rate, or multiple 

rates to reflect different ruralities, business types and sizes.  

 Option 3: All businesses would be entitled to free collection of packaging 

waste.  

3.12 Data and reporting requirements to support local authority and business payment 

mechanisms 

a    It is proposed that local authorities will need to report data to the Scheme 

Administrator. This will include data on collection and disposal services and 

facilities, the types of households and businesses they service, tonnages 

collected and local communications activities. 

 

Page 50

Agenda Item 12



3.12 Reporting and payment cycle 

a   It is proposed that producers pay according to the tonnage of packaging 

that they place onto the market in the previous calendar as they currently 

do, and that local authorities are paid on a financial year basis, based on 

previous years’ tonnage data, quarterly in arrears.  

3.13 The responses to the questions, relative to the Council, are set out in Appendix 

1. The full response is shown as Appendix 3. 

 
3.14. DRS Consultation – Summary and key policy proposals 

a. In 2019, DEFRA’s consultation on DRS in England was met with support for the 

introduction of a scheme. The rationale behind the scheme is to push more 

material up the waste hierarchy and move towards a more circular economy. 

b. The primary objectives of a DRS are summarised in the document as: 

 Increasing recycling rates of in-scope containers (estimated that DRS could 

achieve recycling rates of 90% or higher) 

 Increasing the quality of recycled material to encourage closed loop recycling 

and circularity to ensure materials remain in use for as long as possible 

 Reduce littering of in-scope containers 

c. The consultation envisages that the introduction would now be in late 2024 at 

the earliest.  

d. The DRS would require producers to sign up to the Deposit Management 

Organisation (DMO) and carry out reporting obligations, paying a producer 

registration fee to the DMO to fund the DRS, and placing a redeemable deposit 

on in-scope drinks containers they place on the market. Retailers will be required 

to accept all DRS containers return to their store and ensure the deposit price is 

added to the purchase price of an in-scope drink at the point of purchase. 

e. Key policy proposals within the document are as follows (these are not 

exhaustive). 

 Scope of DRS should be determined by material rather than product, and 

propose that the scheme captures PET plastic bottles, glass bottles, and 

steel and aluminium cans. The impact assessment models the exclusion of 

glass bottles following concerns from the industry that this would lead to 

significant increase in handling costs and equipment complexity, and that it 

may undermine the remaining glass collected at kerbside. It proposes that 

beverage cartons and sachets / pouches are excluded from the DRS scope, 

and cartons included within the proposed core collected materials via EPR. 

Disposable single-use cups would be handled through EPR.   

 DEFRA have remained open on scope with regards to size, and this 

consultation is seeking further views on whether the DRS should be an all-in 

scheme (up to 3L in size) or an on-the-go scheme (under 750L in size and 

excluding those sold in multipacks.  

Page 51

Agenda Item 12



 Obligation placed on the DMO to achieve a 90% collection rate after three 

years  

 DMO – Responsible for supporting, managing and overseeing DRS, set 

deposit level within set parameters, and importantly make financial provisions 

to pay local authorities for DRS material appearing in kerbside collections. 

 Unredeemed deposits – Assesses two options. The first (preferred option) 

would allow unredeemed deposits to part-fund the scheme. The second 

would lead to them part-funding the scheme but there is a minimum producer 

fee per annum. 

 Funding of DRS – Deposit level will not be fixed in legislation as in 

comparable schemes (i.e. Scotland). DEFRA propose to set out a minimum, 

and possibly a maximum, deposit within secondary legislation.  

 Return points – Proposed that all retailers selling in-scope drinks containers 

will need to accept all DRS container returns to their store and refund the 

deposit amount to the consumer when an item is returned. Obligations extend 

to online retailers, who must also ensure the deposit price is added to the 

purchase price when advertising an in-scope material online, and it is being 

considered whether such retailers should be obligated to offer consumers a 

take-back service for the container purchased. Retailers can choose to host a 

return point with a reverse vending machine or a manual return point.  

However, there does not seem to be any consideration of the return of in-
scope materials, delivered as part of home delivery services. This could put 
elderly and housebound residents at a significant disadvantage, as they 
would have to pay the deposit, but may not have any means of reclaiming the 
money. Many of these residents will be on low income and can ill afford 
additional financial burdens. Therefore, consideration should be given to 
compelling retailers, that provide a home delivery service, to provide a means 
of collecting in-scope materials and reimbursing their customers. 

 Labelling – Proposal for a mandatory requirement to ensure that all-in scope 

drinks products are marked so that they can be identified as part of the DRS. 

3.15 Local Authority implications and impacts 

a. The consultation explores the impact that a DRS would have on local 

authorities, and the way in which containers in scope of DRS will be treated 

when these containers still end up in local authority waste streams.  

 

b. The consultation proposes three option for how local authorities could be 

financially reimbursed for the costs involved in treating scheme material: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 12



Option Benefits for LAs as 
identified by DEFRA 

Disbenefits for LAs as 
identified by DEFRA 

‘Do nothing’ approach, 
allowing local 
authorities to redeem 
the deposits of DRS 
containers collected in 
their waste streams 

Local authorities would 
need to separate DRS 
containers from 
kerbside collections or 
agree with Materials 
Recycling Facility 
(MRF) to separate 
there and agree profit 
sharing agreement to 
redeem deposits.  

Ensures LAs and DMO 
are incentivised to 
maximise the number of 
containers going 
through the scheme. 

Flexibility for LAs 
dependent on whether 
they are able to 
separate DRS 
containers 
independently or 
negotiate agreements 
with MRFs to do so. 

LAs still have the option 
to sell these materials 
for market value as they 
do now, albeit for lower 
prices. 

Uncertainty for LAs in 
budgeting for income 
from DRSs.  

No DMO payments to 
LAs for DRS materials 
in their waste streams 
where the deposit 
cannot be redeemed.  

No payments would be 
made for DRS 
containers that go 
through litter or residual 
streams. 

 

Allow a DMO to make 

payments to local 

authorities for these 

materials via the EPR 

Scheme Administrator. 

The funding formula 

developed would 

therefore cover the 

costs of DRS 

containers, as well as 

packaging waste in 

recycling, residual and 

litter 

 

LAs receive stable 

financial flows. 

Greater certainty than 

option 1 in the form of 

tonnage-based 

payments. 

LAs still have option to 

sell materials collected 

at kerbside. 

LAs could also separate 

these materials to 

redeem deposit 

amounts on containers 

that meet quality criteria 

(i.e. double payments) 

Relies on robust 

compositional analysis 

being widely available 

Kerbside recycling lower 

quality than 

uncontaminated DRS 

stream. 

Less lucrative for LAs, 

especially those that 

think it is feasible to 

separate DRS 

containers from 

collections and redeem 

deposits. 

Payments would be 

calculated on the basis 

of net cost payments, 

and therefore could be 

very small amounts to 

local authorities 

because the value of 

selling DRS materials is 

likely to cover the 

majority of the costs of 

collection. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 12



Hybrid option, whereby 

the DMO pays a 

deposit value on 

containers that are 

returned, and any 

additional scheme 

material in local 

authority waste streams 

is covered by a funding 

formula in Option 2.  

 

Ensures LAs receive 

payment on all DRS 

material whilst 

preventing double 

payments. 

LAs would still receive a 

tonnage-based 

payment for DRS 

containers not returned. 

Incentivises more DRS 

containers to be 

returned through the 

system. 

Flexibility for LAs on 

whether to separate 

DRS materials or 

negotiate agreements 

with MRFs. 

 

Possibility for MRFs to 

return container to DMO 

and receive deposit 

value and not share with 

LAs. 

Reliant on robust 

compositional analysis. 

Increased separating 

costs in redeeming 

deposit value. 

Complexity to calculate 

and administer what the 

funding formula and 

payment should be. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.16 Option 2 is DEFRA’s preferred model. 

a. DEFRA commitment to ensuring that local authorities are not financially 

disadvantaged by the appearance of DRS containers in local authority waste 

streams. DEFRA estimate that approximately 7% of all DRS containers placed 

on the market to continue to be collected by kerbside collections. 

b. DEFRA produced an Impact Assessment (85% return rate and 20p deposit level) 

alongside the main consultation, the main findings relevant for local authorities of 

which are listed in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 12



Scenario Financial impacts Impacts to local authorities 

Baseline ‘do 

nothing’ – no 

DRS for 

drinks 

containers 

No incremental costs or benefits, above and beyond EPR and 

Consistency 

All-in DRS 

including PET 

plastic 

bottles, glass 

bottles, 

aluminium, 

and steel 

cans up to 3 

litre 

Total cost £2,150m in 

transition, £170m per 

annum thereafter 

Reduction in litter 

£1,452m 

Carbon savings -£0.5m in 

year 1 to £6m in year 11.  

Total benefits over 11 

years, £12,231m 

Carbon savings from, due to closed-

loop recycling and residual diversion. 

With return rate of 85%, approx. 85% 

reduction in DRS containers being 

littered. 

Remaining 10-15% (70% recycling 

rate) would lead to approx. 7% of 

DRS materials being recycled at 

kerbside. 

Loss of revenue from recyclate value. 

On-the-go 

DRS 

including PET 

plastic 

bottles, glass 

bottles, 

aluminium, 

and steel 

cans 

Total cost £1,235m in 

transition, £85m per 

annum thereafter 

Reduction in litter £435m 

Carbon savings -£0.5m in 

year 1 to £1m in year 11.  

Total benefits over 11 

years £3,758m. 

Smaller tonnage of material removed, 

compared to all-in option. 

Loss of revenue, although smaller 

than in all-in option. 

 

All-in DRS 

with glass 

containers 

excluded from 

scheme 

Total cost £1,738m in 

transition, £171m per 

annum thereafter 

Reduction in litter 

£1,049m 

Carbon savings -£1m in 

year 1 to £6,6m in year 

11.  

Total benefits over 11 

years £9,074m. 

Glass beverage containers would 

remain on the kerbside, and therefore 

any accrued material income would 

remain with LA. 

 

3.17 As can be seen from the Table above, the All-in system has significantly greater 

benefits than the other 2 options. 

3.18 It should be noted that Scotland and Wales have both legislated for the all-in 

option. 

3.19 The DRS consultation document contains 213 pages and requests responses to 

98 questions. However, much of the content and a large number of the questions 

Page 55

Agenda Item 12



are not relevant to local authorities and therefore, only the questions that are 

relevant, are show as Appendix 2. The full response is shown as Appendix 4. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 There is a need to ensure that Members are given the opportunity to express 

their views on these consultations as they will have a significant effect on the 

future financing of refuse collection, recycling and litter clearance. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 A “do nothing” option would mean that the views of Barrow Borough Council will 

not be considered by DEFRA.  This is not recommended. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 This directly contributes to a range of Council Plan priorities, in particular in 

ensuring that neighbourhoods are clean, welcoming and attractive and that our 

environment is enhanced, protected and celebrated.  

 

7.0 Implications Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1     There are no direct financial costs. However, the proposals set out in the 

consultations will have a significant effect on the future financing of refuse 

collection, recycling and litter clearance 

8.0 Legal  

8.1 There are no legal implications for this report which is a response to formal 
consultation. 

 

9.0 Equality and Diversity  

9.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No – The introduction of EPR 
and DRS will be subject to their own Equality Impact Analysis 

 
10. Risk 

 

10.1 The risk of not responding to the consultations is that the opinions of Members 

and Officers of Barrow Borough Council will not have an opportunity to influence 

the Consultations.: 

 

Contact Officers  

John Byford APSE  

 

Appendices Attached to this Report  

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Relevant Responses to the Extended Producer Responsibility 

Consultation 

2  Relevant Responses to the Disposal Return Scheme 

Consultation 

Page 56

Agenda Item 12



3 Full Responses to the Extended Producer Responsibility 

Consultation 

4 Full Responses to the Disposal Return Scheme Consultation 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

EPR consultation document Introduction of Extended Producer Responsibility 

For Packaging - Consultation Document 

DRS consultation document https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/c

onsultation-on-introducing-a-

drs/supporting_documents/DRS%20Consu

ltation%20FINAL%20.pdf 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 12

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/extended-producer-responsibility/extended-producer-responsibility-for-packaging/supporting_documents/23.03.21%20EPR%20Consultation.pdf
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/extended-producer-responsibility/extended-producer-responsibility-for-packaging/supporting_documents/23.03.21%20EPR%20Consultation.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - Responses to relevant EPR Questions  

 

Q16 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to set recycling targets for fibre-

based composites? (P41) 

 If introduced, recycling targets for fibre-based composites, such as cartons, 
should be aligned with sorting capabilities and strong and stable end markets 
enabling kerbside collection. 

 

Producer Disposable Cups Takeback Obligation 

Q28 Do you agree or disagree that a mandatory, producer-led takeback obligation 

should be placed on sellers of filled disposable paper cups? (P67) a. Agree  

Q29 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed phased approach to introducing 

any takeback obligation, with larger businesses/sellers of filled disposable 

paper cups obligated by the end of 2023, and the obligation extended to all 

sellers of filled disposable paper cups by the end of 2025? (P67) a. Agree  

Modulated Fees and Labelling 

Q30 Do you think that the proposed strategic frameworks will result in a fair and 

effective system to modulate producer fees being established? (P72) a. Yes  

 We support the principle and application of modulated fees within the EPR 
system, to incentivise the design of reusable, durable and recyclable 
products. It is important that modulated fees are linked to long-term end 
markets, so that it is directly related to the practicalities and feasibility of 
collection new material streams. 

 However, it should first and foremost prioritise prevention and reuse of 
packaging, including refillable options as well as non-packaging applications. 
The modulated fees have the opportunity to drive waste further up the 
hierarchy, over and above recycling. 

Q31 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should decide what 

measures should be taken to adjust fees if a producer has been unable to 

self-assess, or provides inaccurate information? This is in addition to any 

enforcement action that might be undertaken by the regulators. (P75) a. 

Agree  

Q32 Do you agree or disagree with our preferred approach (Option 1) to 

implementing mandatory labelling? (P82) a. Agree  

 We agree with Option 1 that a selection of approved labels should be used on 
packaging to provide consumers with clear information regarding what 
packaging can and cannot be recycled. 

 However, more information is needed on how broad the number and type of 
labels that would be approved. If this does not compromise on simple 
information on recyclability, then in theory this should benefit the householder. 

 It is however important that approved labelling is determined by the roll-out of 
consistent collections, to take account of local variations during the initial 
stage of transitioning to new collection schemes. For instance, there should 
not be a blanket ‘recycle’ label for plastic films and flexibles until which point 
kerbside collections have been universally adopted or mandated. This is 
important to avoid any unintended consequences of the labelling system. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



Q33 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all producers could be 

required to use the same ‘do not recycle’ label? (P82) a. Agree  

 Agree. If producers are required to use the same ‘do not recycle’ label, this 
would support a consistent approach towards labelling and reduce household 
confusion. The current system often leads to the same material type being 
labelled as ‘recyclable’, ‘do not recycle’ or alternatively the dubious ‘check 
locally’. 

 This should, again, be required in line with the timescales for consistency at 
which point the consistent core is universally collected. 

Q34 Do you think that the timescales proposed provide sufficient time to implement 

the new labelling requirements? (P82) c. Unsure  

Q35 Do you agree or disagree that the labelling requirement should be placed on 

businesses who sell unfilled packaging directly to small businesses? (P82) c. 

Neither agree nor disagree  

Q36 Do you think it would be useful to have enhancements on labels, such as 

including ‘in the UK’ and making them digitally enabled? (P83) c. Unsure  

 This has the risk of adding complexity and confusion to a simple labelling 
system. 

 It should also be considered how containers produced abroad will be labelled, 
and whether they will need to be labelled using the binary UK-based label.  

 Digital enhancements for EPR packaging material may conflict with the 
proposed digital DRS labelling scheme.  

Q37 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities across the UK who do not 

currently collect plastic films in their collection services should adopt the 

collection of this material no later than the end of financial year 2026/27? 

(P85) c. Neither agree nor disagree  

 We would encourage a much wider focus on waste minimisation and reuse, 

and the mandating of separate collection of plastic films and flexibles would 

legitimise more packaging, rather than encourage less. 

 Timescales for the collection of plastic films and flexibles need to be aligned 

with the development of sorting infrastructure and long-term end markets. 

This will differ across various local authorities; however, it would not be 

suitable for kerbside recycling collections to collect a material where the 

sorting infrastructure either isn’t present, or not sufficiently sophisticated to 

reduce any impacts and contamination of other polymer types. Currently the 

markets for film in the UK are still at an immature phase.  

 To reach separate collection by 2026/27, capital investment into MRFs and 

reprocessing capabilities will need to be frontloaded, and it would seem 

appropriate for this to be funded through EPR. Only following this can 

contracts and commitments be negotiated and put in place.  There will 

therefore need to be a sufficient lead-in time. 

 This timescale is also contingent on the wider proposal for the collection of the 

consistent core, and how this may be collected with other material streams, 

such as cartons and non-fibre-based materials.  

Page 60

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



 Ultimately, the requirement should therefore be focussed on ensuring that 

there is sufficient sorting and reprocessing capacity nationally by a certain 

deadline, as only this can determine a way forward. 

Q38 Do you agree or disagree that collections of plastic films and flexibles from 

business premises across the UK could be achieved by end of financial year 

2024/5? (P85) c. Neither disagree nor agree  

 See answer to Q37. Many of the answers are still relevant, as those local 
authorities providing trade waste services will still need to negotiate with the 
MRF for appropriate sorting and end markets. 

 Extended Producer Responsibility should also be encouraging producers to 
move away from this material to a more reusable or easy-to-recycle material, 
rather than placing a significant amount of time, effort, and investment into 
recycling it. 

Q39 Do you think there should be an exemption from the ‘do not recycle’ label for 

biodegradable/compostable packaging that is filled and consumed (and 

collected and taken to composting/anaerobic digestion facilities that accept it), 

in closed situations where reuse or recycling options are unavailable? (P87) b. 

Disagree  

 An exemption would be too specific a scenario to have a standard 

arrangement, and present various difficulties in assessing which local 

authority areas, or indeed AD or composting facilities, are able to process 

biodegradable and compostable packaging. 

 Manufacturers are also likely to be unaware when a product or packaging is 

being produced for a closed situation such as a concert or festival. There 

should be an increased focus on ensuring how these events are managed 

sustainably and offer alternative reusable or refillable packaging solutions. 

 It would present mixed messages and not support behavioural change. For 

instance, householders will query why they can recycle biodegradable and 

compostable packaging at a concert, but not at the kerbside. This is likely to 

lead to increased plastics contamination. 

Q40 Do you consider that any unintended consequences may arise as a result of 

the proposed approach to modulated fees for compostable and biodegradable 

plastic packaging? (P87) b. No  

 It would seem appropriate for compostable and biodegradable plastic 

packaging to attract higher modulated fees until which point they could be 

which would either enable investment in processing infrastructure or deter 

biodegradable or compostable packaging in favour of materials which can be 

re-used, or closed loop recycled. 

Payments for Managing Packaging Waste 

Q41 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed definition and scope of necessary 

costs? (P90) a. Agree  

 We support the proposed scope for EPR local authority payments, which 

are intended to ensure that producers meet the ‘full net cost’ in the widest 

sense. We would emphasise that there are particular difficulties in defining 

Page 61

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



what an ‘effective and efficient’ service looks like, and the challenges that 

this presents in rural areas where there are additional costs associated 

with service delivery. 

 Although in principle we support ‘necessary costs’ being met by producers, 

to enable local authorities to focus on providing effective services to 

ensure the collection and transfer of high-quality material, we would urge 

caution on ‘rural’ and ‘very rural’ authorities being classified at outliers or 

inefficient. This would potentially penalise rural authorities, and hinder their 

ability to upscale their services, such as collecting additional material 

streams. 

 Additional clarity is needed on when the cost of contract change is 

proposed to be calculated, and when a contract change is deemed 

necessary? Also, what would be the approach towards local authority 

payments when contractors submit Change in Law claims. 

 Further clarity is needed on how DEFRA will differentiate between costs 

that a local authority would incur anyway, and those incurred as a result of 

the mandated change. 

 Further details are needed on the impact for a contracted-out service, such 

as receiving the payment, roles and responsibilities of various duties and 

reporting mechanisms, and costs of varying contracts. 

 The scope is not clear about covering service change costs due to 

implementing efficiencies, such as modelling and route optimisation. 

 When will costs be applied from, as it may discourage early adopters, or 

penalise local authorities that are currently considering and implementing 

changes due to contract cycles. The risk with this approach is that this 

could lead to inertia until payments are guaranteed to be paid. 

Q42 Do you agree or disagree that payments should be based on good practice, 

efficient and effective system costs and relevant peer benchmarks? (P96) a. 

Agree  

 In theory, we support steps to base costs around accurate ‘family groups’ 

although we are concerned over the lack of detail. Disparities will exist, even 

within authorities, and it must be considered whether 9 categories will be 

sufficient to cover full net cost recovery. We would support a transition 

towards actual payments to provide a fairer payment system, with the data 

recording, management and reporting costs paid through EPR, although the 

process and detail for submitting the data needs to be clarified at the earliest 

opportunity due to the timescales. 

 We recognise the potential for outliers to be conflated with ‘poor performers’ 

and we would urge consideration of this within the funding model. In order to 

take this into account, there should be an appeal process for local authorities 

to potentially move between family groups, if there is a case. Local authority 

representation in relation to the Scheme Administrator is also needed to 

counter-balance producer representation and influence given local authorities’ 

role as a key part of the scheme. 

 We would also be cautious on the Scheme Administrator exercising an 

excessive amount of control over local authority payments, including the risk 

Page 62

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



of centralised criteria for what an ‘effective and efficient service’ looks like 

such as financially incentivising particular collection schemes. 

 In theory, the modelled cost approach seems practical at least initially, and we 

welcome the additional work that WRAP is undertaking to ensure that ‘very 

rural’ authorities have a sufficient benchmark cost of constitutes an ‘effective 

and efficient’ waste service. We would welcome additional engagement on the 

specifics of the benchmark cost when this work is finalised to refine and fine-

tune the accuracy of calculating costs. We would expect that the Scheme 

Administrator could assume this role in the lead-up to the roll-out of EPR. 

 Questions on how flexible the transition period will be, and whether it will allow 

WCAs and WDA to make the necessary changes in a timely and realistic 

manner. 

 Although it seems sensible for the system to incentivise local authorities to 

meet and exceed recycling performance benchmarks, what would be the 

review and monitoring mechanism for the benchmark to reflect changing 

circumstances and recycling rates? 

 The role of reuse has not been adequately addressed, and how would reuse 

and a reduction in waste arisings align with the proposed EPR framework. 

This is important as a focus on reuse and prevention may lead to a reduction 

in packaging being collected for recycling, and therefore a reduction in the 

recycling rate.  

 

Q43 Do you agree or disagree that the per tonne payment to local authorities for 

packaging materials collected and sorted for recycling should be net of an 

average price per tonne for each material collected? (P99) b. Disagree  

 Risk of material value should be borne by the producer, not local authorities. 

Due to their size and economies of scale, packaging producers can have 

more influence over material prices than local authorities. They are also well 

placed to change their packaging habits based on recyclability as well as 

consumer demand thereby responding to and managing market forces. 

 The proposed approach has the risk of adding bureaucracy and unnecessary 
complexity. It would need to be reviewed more regularly than on an annual 
basis to ensure fairness and to be representative of the current context. It 
would also be determined by market fluctuations, and the potential for 
fluctuating gate fees which would provide little incentive or certainty for local 
authorities. 

 This approach would have implications for existing contracts where the waste 

management company has material ownership, and therefore receives 

material income. There are also nuances to existing local authority-MRF 

contracts, including fixed value, risk share % and rebates, which may not align 

neatly with the proposed approach. Would it be expected that this would be 

determined locally? 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



Q44 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should have the 

ability to apply incentive adjustments to local authority payments to drive 

performance and quality in the system? (P101) a. Agree  

 In principle, we support the principle of incentive-adjusted payment to local 

authorities to drive performance and quality, however this needs to be locally 

relevant and feasible within the local and regional context. For instance, there 

may be limitations, such as demographics, household type, rurality, or local 

infrastructure, which means some local authorities may not reach a certain 

performance standard. 

 We support the Scheme Administrator having the ability to apply such 

incentives in consultation with the framework set out in the EPR scope, and in 

consultation with local authorities. Although we would support greater 

transparency on the process, performance standards and benchmarks and 

targeting local authorities for applying incentive-based payments. 

 It must also allow an opportunity for poor performers to improved. It should 

also be sufficient to make it worthwhile (i.e. cost of quality improvement is less 

than incentive-based payments to be received). 

 

Q45 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should be given reasonable 

time and support to move to efficient and effective systems and improve their 

performance before incentive adjustments to payments are applied? (P101) a. 

Agree  

 Agree. Local authorities need sufficient amount of time to prepare for the 
transition to ‘efficient and effective systems’ as set by the Scheme 
Administrator. 

 The transition will depend on householder engagement as well as 
infrastructure, both of which take a long lead-in time to achieve set outcomes. 

 It should also be considered that a change or variation in contracts will be 
needed, which will also take time to develop, implement and embed. 

 

Q46 Should individual local authorities be guaranteed a minimum proportion of 

their waste management cost regardless of performance? (P101) a. Yes  

 We support a guaranteed minimum proportion of waste management costs 

being paid to local authorities, which will support a standard of service 

provision to householders without compromising on the quality and quantity of 

packaging collected.  

 Failure to guarantee a minimum proportion of waste management costs, as 

proposed in the EPR scope, would be inconsistent with the principle of full-net 

cost recovery and may mean that some local authorities are unprepared to 

fully harness the potential for future changes. 

 There is also a risk of local authorities not being treated equally, and EPR 

exacerbating inequalities and facing undue incentivisation from producers. 

 Instead, local authorities classified as ‘poor performance’ should be supported 

to tackle any localised or system-based issues which may be affecting the 

Page 64

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



quality or quantity of packaging collected and recycling. For instance, this may 

include contamination due in part to geography and deprivation. As the 

proposed approach to EPR local authority payments includes being based on 

‘family groups’, there is the potential to build-in payments to support the 

transition towards a more effective and efficient system whilst recognising the 

necessary timeframes to achieve EPR outcomes. 

 

Q47 Do you agree or disagree that there should be incentive adjustments or 

rewards to encourage local authorities to exceed their modelled recycling 

benchmarks? (P101) c. Neither agree nor disagree  

 We would emphasise the need to prioritise prevention and reuse as well as 
recycling. Local authorities are supportive and proactive engaging 
householders in pushing waste further up the waste hierarchy. This can often 
result in the recycling rate reducing, but waste arisings also reducing. We 
would support this being incorporated into the EPR modelled benchmarks, so 
that local authorities are not unfairly penalised for implementing the waste 
hierarchy and reducing the carbon cost of the waste industry. 

 Initial funding should prioritise support for poor performers first and foremost, 
and not rewarding the high performing authorities. 

 

Q48 Do you agree or disagree that unallocated payments should be used to help 

local authorities meet their recycling performance benchmarks, and contribute 

to Extended Producer Responsibility outcomes through wider investment and 

innovation, where it provides value for money? (P102) a. Agree  

 We agree that unallocated payments should help local authorities meet 

recycling performance benchmarks. We would like further clarity from the 

Scheme Administrator on the performance benchmark which determine value 

for money.  

 This could be provided towards ‘middle performers’ who may see their costs 
be siphoned off to poor and high performers, contrary to full net cost recovery. 
This may create a perverse effect where they may receive additional funding if 
they dropped into the ‘poor performers’ category. 

 

Q49 Do you agree or disagree that residual payments should be calculated using 

modelled costs of efficient and effective systems based on the average 

composition of packaging waste within the residual stream? (P103) a. Agree  

Q50 Do you agree or disagree that a disposal authority within a two-tier authority 

area (England only) should receive the disposal element of the residual waste 

payment directly? (P103) a. Agree  

 Both the WCA (collection) and WDA (disposal) should receive their relevant 
residual element directly from the Scheme Administrator.  

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



Q51 Do you agree or disagree that there remains a strong rationale for making 

producers responsible for the costs of managing packaging waste produced 

by businesses? (P109) a. Agree  

 Yes, but there should be greater focus on businesses to produce less 
packaging waste and recycling. This would be consistent with the waste 
hierarchy. Concern that the proposed system would incentivise more 
packaging, not less. 

Q52 Do you agree or disagree that all commercial and industrial packaging should 

be in scope of the producer payment requirements except where a producer 

has the necessary evidence that they have paid for its management directly? 

(P111) a. Agree  

Q53 Which approach do you believe is most suited to deliver the outcomes being 

sought in paragraph 8.84? (P115) b. Option 2  

Q55 Do you think there will be any issues with not having either Packaging 

Recovery Notes/Packaging Export Recovery Notes or the business payment 

mechanism (and as a result recycling targets) in place for a short period of 

time? (P119) c. Unsure  

Q56 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a sampling regime for 

packaging waste as an amendment to the MF Regulations in England, Wales 

and Scotland and incorporation into new or existing regulations in Northern 

Ireland? (P123) a. Agree  

Q65 Do you think any existing industry grades and standards could be used as 

minimum output material quality standards? (P129) a. Yes  

 The use of existing industry grades and standards as minimal output material 

quality standards would appear to be consistent with a simpler, effective 

system which would be flexible as well as reducing complexity for local 

authorities. This would obviously necessitate the standards to be reviewed 

and updated periodically, whilst remaining relevant and simple to understand. 

 

 There is the risk that if the minimum output material quality standards were 

developed and implemented separately to industry grades and specifications, 

this may increase the complexity of the system. It also risks local authorities 

collecting recycling at a standard which bears little connection with the wider 

end markets. 

 

 Misalignment between the two may also cause added confusion where a 

material may not meet the minimum output material quality, but still has 

access to stable end markets. It is vitally important that contaminated 

recyclate is built into the EPR local authority payments, and recognised that 

multiple social and economic factors, as well as communications, can 

influence the levels of contamination. This should form the basis of the EPR 

local authority payments for the various groupings. 

Q66 Do you agree or disagree that local authority payments should be made 

quarterly, on a financial year basis? (P132) a. Agree  

Page 66

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



Q67 Do you agree or disagree that household and business packaging waste 

management payments should be based on previous year’s data? (P132) c. 

Neither agree nor disagree  

 There are certain risks attached to basing payments on previous year’s data, 
such as not accounting for any anomalies. For instance, the Covid-19 
pandemic is a good case in point which fundamentally changes the volume of 
waste and recycling collected at the kerbside. 

 Therefore, basing payments on a number of years or having the ability to 
explain potential anomalies may be more appropriate and a fairer way of 
establishing actual amounts.  

 Greater clarity on what data management process will be used is critical. For 
instance, the emerging digital waste data tracking system has the potential to 
simplify reporting and encourage a whole-chain approach, but the 
infrastructure needs to be adequately in place. 

 

 

 

Litter Payments 

Q68 Do you agree or disagree that the costs of litter management should be borne 

by the producers of commonly littered items based on their prevalence in the 

litter waste stream as determined by a composition analysis which is 

described in option 2? (P137) a. Agree  

 We support that the scope for litter payments is broad and includes the 

prevention of litter, in addition to ‘ground litter’ and ‘bin litter’. Prevention is an 

important component to enable local authorities to upscale litter prevention 

activities and reduce litter in the longer-term. 

 

 However, we also recognise that there is not much detail on how the 

payments to local authorities would be calculated. We would expect the 

Scheme Administrator to engage with local authorities prior to the operation of 

the litter management payments. This should also include the proposed 

frequency, implementation, and auditing process for waste composition 

analyses, as this will be greatly affected by multiple factors not least the time 

of day that it takes place. The cost of waste composition analyses should be 

picked up through EPR payments. 

 

 In principle, we would support a payment system which is proportionate to 

commonly littered items, although we do recognise the challenges in ensuring 

that this system is fair and simple to operate. The benefit of this approach for 

local authorities would be an incentive for producers to manufacture products 

less prone to littering, such as removing hard-to-recycle or several component 

parts. Nevertheless, if the preferred option for litter payments from producers 

is to be borne by their prevalence in the litter waste stream, this mustn’t come 

at the expense of the timeline for litter payments.  

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



 There should be greater clarity on how efficiencies would be determined, 

including the incentive-based payment, and whether the frequency of 

collection is a suitable determining factor in an efficient service. 

 

 What would be the relationship with fly-tipping of packaging materials, which 

under the proposed scope would not be covered? 

 

 The specific details on developing and agreeing the costs of litter prevention 

and management of ground and bin litter should be shared and engaged with 

in consultation with local authorities prior to implementation. 

Q69 In addition to local authorities, which of the following duty bodies do you agree 

should also receive full net cost payments for managing littered packaging? 

Selecting multiple options is allowed. (P140) a. Other duty bodies, b. Litter 

authorities, c. Statutory undertakers  

 Payments to non-statutory bodies may add unnecessary complications. In the 
context of voluntary litter pickers, local authorities should be given the 
discretion to pass on litter management payments to community payments. 
This would be consistent with the necessary management and due diligence 
of the system.  

 

Q70 Do you agree or disagree that producers should contribute to the costs of litter 

prevention and management activities on other land? (P140) a. Agree  

Q71 Do you agree or disagree that local authority litter payments should be linked 

to improved data reporting? (P141) c. Neither agree nor disagree  

 This is dependent on multiple factors.  

 It is unclear what this means, and whether there would be much scope for 
improvement. 

 It also depends on the burden of reporting, how it takes local authorities to 
complete, what the data is going to be used for, and ultimately the benefit of 
the specified dataset. 

 It is important that any obligations in regard to data collection is picked up 
through the EPR payments. 

 Timeframes need clarified and addressed to ensure that they are realistic and 
feasible for local authorities to work towards. For instance, baseline data will 
need to be established first and foremost to base payments and performance 
standards on. 

 Concern that if litter payments are reduced for reasons of data reporting, this 
would not equate to full net cost recovery. 

Q72 Do you agree or disagree that payments should be linked to standards of local 

cleanliness over time? (P141) b. Disagree  

 Disagree. It is difficult to identify how local cleanliness would be measured 
and monitored. Litter is a snapshot in time, and local cleanliness standards 
therefore have the potential to be disproportionate and unrelated to the assets 
and issues that a local area has in regard to litter. 

Page 68

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



 Further clarity on how the location and frequency of compositional analyses 
would be determined, as this will impact on what is constituted local 
cleanliness. 

 Issues such as public behaviour, demography and packaging type all 
influence the litter prevalence and frequency. It is therefore necessary that the 
litter payments provide an incentive and support to move towards reducing 
litter, which should include full costs being recovery to ensure that adequate 
resources are put into place. 

 

Scheme Administration and Governance 

Q73 Do you agree or disagree that the functions relating to the management of 

producer obligations in respect of household packaging waste and litter 

including the distribution of payments to local authorities are managed by a 

single organisation? (P147) a. Agree  

Q74 Overall which governance and administrative option do you prefer? (P147) a. 

Option 1  

Q79 If the Scheme Administrator is appointed in January 2023 as proposed, would 

it have sufficient time to mobilise in order to make payments to local 

authorities from October 2023? (P153) b. No  

 Many of the proposals set out in the EPR consultation will require the Scheme 
Administrator to consult with local authorities and other agencies on the detail 
of the system. It therefore would not seem feasible for this process to take 
place and for payment allocation to take place within 9 months. 

Implementation Timeline 

Q96 Do you agree or disagree with the activities that the Scheme Administrator 

would need to undertake in order to make initial payments to local authorities 

in 2023 (as described above under Phase 1)? (P176) a. Agree  

Q97 Do you think a phased approach to the implementation of packaging 

Extended Producer Responsibility, starting in 2023 is feasible and practical? 

(P176) a. Yes  

Q98. Do you prefer a phased approach to implementing Extended Producer 

Responsibility starting in 2023 with partial recovery of the costs of managing 

packaging waste from households or later implementation, which could 

enable full cost recovery for household packaging waste from the start? 

(P176) a. Phased approach starting in 2023  

 Phased-in approach starting in 2023 but with local authorities being able to 
report costs for any EPR-related changes which are implemented before 2023 
due to contract cycles and variations. 

 

Q103 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should proactively 

fund the development and commercialisation of reuse systems? (P189) a. 

Agree  

 The EPR system should prioritise reuse, and there is the risk that if it does not 
fund the development and commercialisation of reuse systems, this would 

Page 69

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



further prioritise recycling and increasing the amount of packaging within the 
economy which is contrary to its core environmental objectives. 

 

Q104 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should look to use 

modulated fees to incentivise the adoption of reuse and refill packaging 

systems? (P189) a. Agree  

 Modulated fees should incentivise the adoption of reuse and refill packaging 
systems. Without this, the EPR system is unlikely to have any 
transformational impact on the quantity of packaging. Attached to this is an 
increased carbon cost when decisive action is necessary to drive longer-term 
change. 

 Reuse and refill packaging systems are also underfunded and often delivered 
by the voluntary and community sector. Funding and modulated fees has the 
potential to upscale this activity in a way that localised action could not 
achieve. 

 

 
 

Page 70

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



Appendix 2- Consultation on Deposit Return Scheme (England, NI, Wales) 
 

Q6. Given the context of the Covid-19 pandemic we are currently experiencing; do 
you support or oppose our proposals to implement a deposit return scheme for 

drinks containers in 2024? ☐ Not sure 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 

 There has been a noticeable displacement of waste and recycling to the 

kerbside waste and recycling stream since March 2020. Although some of this 

will be transient, it would be reasonable to suggest that some additional 

tonnage would remain at the kerbside due to behavioural and lifestyle 

changes, such as increased home working. However, it is difficult to estimate 

what the situation will be in late 2024. 

 For this reason, DRS therefore needs to remain flexible, but it is equally not 

feasible to delay it any further. The uncertainty on how DRS may impact local 

authority collections should be determined in line with the decision on EPR 

and Consistency, as they are natural interdependencies. 

 
Q8. Have your views towards implementation of a deposit return scheme been 

affected following the economic and social impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic? ☒ No 

 
Chapter 1: Scope of the Deposit Return Scheme 
 
Q9. Do you agree that the cap should be included as part of the deposit item in a 
deposit return scheme for:? 

☒ Plastic bottle caps on plastic bottles 

☒ Aluminum bottle caps on glass bottles 

☐ Corks in glass bottles 

☒ Foil on the top of a can/ bottle or used to preserve some drinks 

 
 
Q10. Do you believe we have identified the correct pros and cons for the all-in and 

On-the-Go schemes described above? ☒ Yes 

 
Q11. Do you foresee any issues if the final scope of a deposit return scheme in 
England and Northern Ireland does not match the all-in decision taken in Wales? 

E.g. an On-the-Go scheme in England and an all-in scheme in Wales.☒ Yes 

 It is important that there is consistency between the DRS scope in England, 
Scotland, and Wales. Failure to achieve consistency could result in added 
confusion and complexity, especially in northern parts of Cumbria where there 
may be a differential between where people live and work.  

 An inconsistent approach would result in difficulties in the labelling system taking 
account of the differences. This would provide a challenge for material 
movements, and administrative costs to monitor and govern the two separate 
types of schemes. There would also be the risk of the scheme being open to 
abuse.  

Page 71

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.2914163951/


 This would also be contrary to the consistency agenda which should relate to 
DRS and not just kerbside collections, and impact on effective and simple 
communications for residents. 

 
Q12. Having read the rationale for either an all-in or On-the-Go scheme, which do 

you consider to be the best option for our deposit return scheme? ☐ All-in – General 

support so far 

 Firstly, there appears to be an opportunity missed with not pursuing digital DRS 
from the outset of the scheme. An all-in scope under the digital DRS would have 
certain benefits, including utilising the kerbside infrastructure, reducing carbon 
costs due to the reduced need for consumer journeys, and replacing a lot of the 
need for the capital investment and roll-out of RVMs. 

 Failing the introduction of digital DRS from the outset, this would create 
complications in introducing this into the scheme several years into its rollout. 

 All-in has certain advantages such as increased consistency with Scotland and 
Wales as raised above. 

 In addition to this, all-in would result in an increased carbon benefit when 
compared to on-the-go.  

 All-in would also maximise material quantities and be easier to understand for the 
citizen. The risk with on-the-go is that it would create confusing processes and 
payment mechanisms (including separate collection of DRS materials). There 
may be a benefit in maximizing the quantity of DRS materials collected through 
Reverse Vending Machines, in the absence of digital DRS. 

 All-in may also lead to less impact for WCAs, due to it leading to a reduction in 
vehicle tips because of reduced tonnages whereas on-the-go would lead to a 
reduction in volume but not to a comparable extent therefore simply reducing 
critical mass and increasing vehicle costs proportionate to material collected. 

 However, it is important that if all-in DRS is pursued, that local authorities are not 
unfairly penalised for high-value, easy-to-recycle items being diverted away from 
the kerbside. This should include a review of recycling targets. For instance, all-in 
DRS would in theory allow local authorities to shift their focus on waste 
minimisation and a reduction in kerbside arisings. However, they must not be 
subject to the same tonnage-based targets as local authorities will see a fall in 
their recycling rate with DRS materials removed and replaced with the ‘consistent 
core’ which will include mainly lightweight materials. 

 We support that, in theory, the costs for local of DRS materials being removed 

from the kerbside, bring sites, HWRCs would be compensated under the EPR 

system. Integration and simplicity between the two schemes, working 

complementary to Consistency, is vitally important. 

 Local authorities need to be financially supported to transition to these kerbside 

collection systems, which as a result may cost more but provide higher-quality 

recyclables for producers. We welcome that the proposed EPR local authority 

payments would provide support and funding towards the new collection system, 

although this must include transition costs and be supported by suitable and 

strong sorting systems and end markets. 

 
Q13. Given the impact Covid-19 has had on the economy, on businesses and 
consumers, and on everyday life, do you believe an On-the-Go scheme would be 

Page 72

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2



less disruptive to consumers? ☒ No 

 

 It is important that DRS is as simple and easy to understand for the householder.  

 Although there are certain benefits for an on-the-go system, all-in could prove 
easier to understand for consumers. This is because it would achieve 
consistency with Scotland and Wales and eliminate the risk of two schemes 
operating alongside each other. It would also reduce confusion on why a larger 
beverage container cannot be included in the scheme, potentially causing litter 
and frustration with the scheme. 

 
Q14. Do you agree with our proposed definition of an On-the-Go scheme (restricting 
the drinks containers in-scope to less than 750ml in size and excluding multipack 

containers)? ☒ No 

 

 We disagree with excluding multi-packs as these are frequently consumed on-
the-go and may result in a perverse effect in increasing litter as they will be 
cheaper.  

 There may also be the effect of leading to frustration and non-compliance with 
the scheme due to it not being included in the scope, which would be difficult to 
communicate. 

 
 
Q15. Do you agree that the size of containers suggested to be included under an 

On-the-Go scheme are more commonly consumed out of the home than in it? ☒ 

Difficult to say 
 

 We would anticipate that the majority of on-the-go containers would be more 
commonly consumed out of the house, although glass bottles or a larger 
proportion of aluminum cans may be consumed inside the house. However, we 
do not have quantitative evidence.  

 
17. Do you agree that the scope of a deposit return scheme should be based on 

container material rather than product? ☒ No 

 

 Basing the DRS scope on container material may be more confusing for 
consumers, and a product description would be easier.  This is no more relevant 
for the various types of polymers. For instance, few consumers will be able to 
determine the difference between PET bottles (included) and HDPE bottles 
(excluded). It would be clearer to understand if it was made clear what products 
were included/excluded, such as milk bottles. 

 Basing it on container materials may also lead to contaminants entering RVMs, 
such as shampoo bottles. 

 There is the potential to link those DRS materials in scope to the digital DRS, 
which may allow consumers to scan a barcode to understand whether an item is 
accepted into the scheme. 

 
 

Q18. Do you agree with the proposed list of materials to be included in scope? ☒ 

Yes 

Page 73

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2



 

 In addition to the materials included in scope, it may be worth considering 
whether cartons could be added. If digital DRS is pursued, this would then enable 
this to be coordinated with the rollout of Consistency. 

 
Q19. Do you consider there will be any material switching as a result of the proposed 

scope? ☒ Yes 

 

 If a fixed deposit fee is introduced, it is likely that manufacturers may switch to 
larger containers, as proportionally the deposit would be less than for a smaller 
individual container. This may lead to either increased drink waste, or larger 
portion sizes. 

 
Chapter 2: Targets 
 
Q20. Which of the following approaches do you consider should be taken to phase in 
a 90% collection target over 3 years? 
 

☐ 70% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 75% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 75% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☒ 80% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

 
 
Q21. What collection rate do you consider should be achieved as a minimum for all 
materials after 3 years? 
 

☐ 80% 

☐ 85% 

☒ 90% collection rate should be achieved for all materials 

 
Q22. Is it reasonable to assume that the same collection targets could be met with 
an on-the-go (OTG) scheme as those proposed for an all-in scheme for in-scope 

materials? ☒ No 

 
Chapter 4: Financial Flows 
 

Q31. Is a high level of unredeemed deposits funding the scheme problematic? ☒ No 

 
Q35. Do you agree that any excess funds should be reinvested in the scheme or 

spent on other environmental causes? ☒ Reinvested in the scheme 

 
Q38. Recognising the potentially significant deposit costs consumers could pay on a 
multipack purchase, how best can we minimise the impact of the scheme on 
consumers buying multipacks? 
 

 A variable deposit fee may allow multipacks to be included in scope, whilst also 
ensuring that the deposit fee is proportionate to the size of the container.  

Page 74

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3169791581/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3606262140/


 
Q39. Do you agree with our approach to letting the Deposit Management 
Organisation decide on whether to adopt a fixed or variable deposit level, particularly 

with regards to multipacks? ☒ Yes 

 
Chapter 5: Return Points 
 
Q40. Do you agree that all retailers selling in-scope drinks containers should be 
obligated to host a return point, whether it is an all-in or on-the-go (OTG) deposit 

return scheme? ☒ Yes 

 There does not seem to be any plans for the return of in-scope materials 
delivered as part of home delivery services. This could put elderly and 
housebound residents at a significant disadvantage as they would have to pay 
the deposit, but may not have any means of reclaiming the money. Many of these 
residents will be on low income and can ill afford additional financial burdens. 
Therefore, consideration should be given to compelling retailers, that provide a 
home delivery service, to provide a means of collecting in-scope materials and 
reimbursing their customers 

 
Q49. Do you think the scheme could benefit from technological solutions being 
incorporated as a method of return, alongside reverse vending machines and 

manual return points? ☒ Yes 

 Technological solutions, such as QR codes so that householders could reclaim 
deposits from the kerbside, could be particularly useful in rural areas where 
access to return locations may be limited and may be a better option for those 
with accessibility issues. 

 If rolled out at the outset of DRS, it could utilise the kerbside scheme, discourage 
consumer journeys to RVMs and allow online shopping to be included at ease for 
instance. 

 
Q50. How could a digital deposit return scheme solution be integrated into existing 
waste collection infrastructure? 
 

 A digital DRS solution should be developed and delivered with simplicity for 
householders and crews at the heart of its design. This could be achieved 
through the householder being able to scan the DRS container and payments to 
local authorities then being based on a tonnage-based payment as per the 
compositional analysis. 

 This approach would eliminate the need for a DRS label to be visible (as it may 
be broken) at the MRF. A compositional analysis would be based on a sampling 
of DRS materials proportionate to the comingled material. An all-in digital DRS 
scheme would achieve a much simpler process, as an on-the-go scheme would 
result in MRFs needing to separate containers based on size which would be 
time-consuming and difficult. 

 The careful design with consultation with local authorities will avoid the potential 
to set up confusing and unnecessary obstacles to the collection of all recyclable 
materials which may occur if it necessitates the need for bin sensor chips or 
crews needing to log DRS materials at the kerbside which would be time-
consuming and disruptive. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4004598866/


 This could result in changes to householders’ behaviour, and thereby increasing 
participation in kerbside recycling schemes. 

 We would expect that impacts and expectations on local authorities from a digital 

DRS approach to be clearly spelled out, including ownership of material and 

therefore material income arising from DRS material. 

 
Q51. What are the potential fraud control measures a digital deposit return scheme 
could bring? 

 Unique bar code or QR code, so that it could only be redeemed once. 
 
Q52. Do you think a digital deposit return scheme could ensure the same level of 
material quality in the returns compared to a tradition return to retail model, given 
containers may not be returned via a reverse vending machine or manual return 
point where there is likely to be a greater scrutiny on quality of the container before 

being accepted? ☒ Yes 

 Clarity needed on the argument that current local authority collections do not 
deliver good quality containers for recycling. 

 How would RVMs be able to reject DRS containers which do not meet the 
desired quality threshold?  

 
Q53. If the digital deposit return scheme system can be integrated into the existing 
waste collection infrastructure would its implementation and running costs be lower? 

 Yes, as long as all set up costs and ongoing costs are fully funded by the 
scheme.  

 
Chapter 6: Labelling 
 
Q55. Do you agree that the following should be part of a mandatory label for deposit 
return scheme products? 
 

☒ An identification marker that can be read by reverse vending machines and 

manual handling scanners. 

☒ A mark to identify the product as part of a deposit return scheme. 

☒ The deposit price 

 Any DRS labelling needs to be made clear, so that it is not confused with the 
mandatory labelling as proposed under EPR. 

 
Q57. Do you agree with our proposals to introduce mandatory labelling, considering 

the above risk with regards to containers placed on the market in Scotland? ☒ Yes 

 
Q58. Do you consider the risk of incorrectly labelled products entering the markets of 

England, Wales or Northern Ireland via Scotland to be a significant risk? ☒ No 

 
Q59. Do you consider leaving any labelling requirements to industry to be a better 

option than legislating for mandatory labelling requirements? ☒ No 

 
  

Page 76

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4179061498/


Chapter 7: Local authorities and local councils 
 
Q64. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to separate deposit return 
scheme containers either themselves or via agreements with material recovery 
facilities to regain the deposit value? Maybe – dependent on MRF operator  

 Separate collection of DRS containers would lead to a significant cost for local 
authorities, which would create difficulties for the householder, collection 
crews and take up a significant amount of space on vehicles. 

 Agreements with MRFs to regain the deposit value would be dependent on 
the MRFs being able to sort the products. Also, where MRFs serve more than 
one local authority then there is a method of allocating funds accordingly. 
However, it may be possible if based on the proportion of DRS materials 
based on overall output, as per the regular compositional analysis. The 
analysis would be a much simpler approach if all-in is introduced, as it 
negates the need for separate container sizes being separated at the MRF 
where householders may have mixed these together. 

 
Q65. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to negotiate agreements with 
material recovery facilities to ensure gate fees reflect the increased deposit values in 
waste streams or a profit sharing agreement on returned deposit return scheme 

containers was put in place? ☒ Yes 

 Although it will be dependent on numerous factors, not least at what stage 
local authorities are within their contract cycle. There will be contract 
variations, which will need to be fully funded. 

 However, negotiation may be difficult, and we would expect that a national 
framework is set to reduce the risk of MRFs being able to determine various 
different profit-sharing arrangements. 

 Some MRFs are not linked to a specific local authority, and therefore it would 
be necessary for this to be factored in. 

 Arrangements needs to be based on frequent and proportionate 
compositional analyses, which is linked to the EPR-based compositional 
analyses to reduce confusion and complexity. 

 Profit-sharing agreements also need to make clear that, in the scenario of a 
deposit already being reclaimed via digital DRS, whether local authorities 
would receive any material value from that container. 

 
Q66. In order to minimise the risk of double payments from the Deposit Management 
Organisation to local authorities, where should data be collected regarding the 
compositional analysis to prevent the containers then being allowed to be redeemed 
via return points? 

 First Point of Consolidation. 
 
Q67. How difficult do you think option 3 would be to administer, given the need to 
have robust compositional analysis in place? 

 Waste compositional analysis needs to be carried out on a regular basis, 
perhaps quarterly, to ascertain the level of DRS materials within the overall 
output. Tonnage-based payments could be paid to local authorities based on 
the level of unredeemed deposits (if non-digital DRS, this would be 100% of 
DRS materials identified). 

Page 77

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4399695754/


 Compositional analyses will be expensive and require a shift change in 
existing arrangements. The full cost, resource, infrastructure and digital 
systems will need to be worked up with local authorities and MRF operators in 
advance of its introduction. 

 
Q68. What option do you think best deals with the issue of deposit return scheme 
containers that continue to end up in local authority waste streams? 

☐ Option 1 

☒ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

 Option 2. This would be the simplest system for local authorities to decide in 
agreement with MRF operators whether to reclaim deposits for higher-quality 
DRS material or sell via the current route for a specific material value. 

 Option 2 would also achieve alignment with EPR which is necessary to 
ensure that they are not unconnected schemes, where there would be the risk 
of contradiction. 

 
Chapter 8: Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement 
 
Q70. Are local authorities (through the role Trading Standards and the Primary 

Authority Scheme) best placed to enforce certain retailer obligations? ☒ Yes 

 
Chapter 9: Implementation Timeline 

 
Q75. Do you have any comments on the delivery timeline for deposit return scheme? 

 Digital DRS would delay the introduction of DRS but may result in lower 
implementation and running costs. Failure to include it at the outset would 
reduce the potential for it to be included at a later date. 

 
Chapter 10: Summary Approach to Impact Assessment 
 

Q78. Do you agree with the analysis presented in our Impact Assessment? ☒ Yes 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4571938160/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4830626978/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.5028524427/


Appendix 3 – Full response to EPR Consultation 
 

Introduction (pages 19&20) 

Q1 Your Name 

 

Marie Richards 

Q2 Your email address 

 

Marie Richards <mrichards@barrowbc.gov.uk> 

Q3 Which best describes you 

 (list of options including Local Government) 

 

Local Government  

 

Q4 Would you like your response to be confidential 

 (Yes/No) 

 

Q5 Government will need to understand the needs of users to build digital services 

for Extended Producer Responsibility. Would you like your contact details to be 

added to a user panel for Extended Producer Responsibility so that we can invite 

you to participate in user research (e.g. surveys, workshops and interviews) or to 

test digital services as they are designed and built? 

 (Yes/No 

 

What we want to achieve – principles, outcomes and targets 

Q6 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed framework for setting packaging 

targets? (P30) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

What we want to achieve – principles, outcomes and targets 

Q6 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed framework for setting packaging 

targets? (P30) 

Page 79

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

N/A. 

Q7 Do you agree or disagree that the business packaging waste recycling targets 

set for 2022 should be rolled over to the calendar year 2023? (P32) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q8 Do you agree or disagree that the recycling target to be met by 2030 for 

aluminium could be higher than the rate in Table 3? (P36) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q9 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 2030 

for glass set out in table 3? (P36) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q10 What should the glass re-melt target for 2030 for non-bottle packaging be set at? 

(P37) 

Please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Page 80

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



N/A. 

 

Q11 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 2030 

for plastic set out in table 3? (P37) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q12 Do you think a higher recycling target should be set for wood in 2030 than the 

minimum rate shown in Table 3? (P38) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

Please provide the reason for your response.  

 

N/A. 

 

Q13 If higher recycling targets are to be set for 2030, should a sub-target be set that 

encourages long term end markets for recycled wood? (P38) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q14 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 2030 

for steel set out in table 3? (P39) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



N/A. 

 

Q15 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 2030 

for paper/card set out in table 3? (P39) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q16 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to set recycling targets for fibre-

based composites? (P41) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree 

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

 If introduced, recycling targets for fibre-based composites, such as cartons, 
should be aligned with sorting capabilities and strong and stable end markets 
enabling kerbside collection. 

 

Q17 Do you agree or disagree that there may be a need for closed loop recycling 

targets for plastics, in addition to the plastics packaging tax? (P43) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

Please provide the reason for your response.  

 

N/A. 

 

Q18 Please indicate other packaging material that may benefit from closed loop 

targets. (P43) 

 

N/A. 

 

Page 82

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Producer Obligations for Full Net Cost Payments and Reporting 

Q19 Do you agree or disagree that Brand Owners are best placed to respond 

effectively and quickly to incentives that are provided through the scheme? (P50) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree 

 

N/A.  

 

Q20 Are there any situations where the proposed approach to imports would result in 

packaging being imported into the UK which does not pick up an obligation 

(except if the importer or first-owner is below the de-minimis, or if the packaging 

is subsequently exported)? (P51) 

Where available, please share evidence to support your view. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q21 Of Options 2 and 3, which do you think would be most effective at both capturing 

more packaging in the system and ensuring the smallest businesses are 

protected from excessive burden? (P54) 

a. Option 2  

b. Option 3  

c. Neither  

d. Don’t know  

If you answered ‘neither’, please provide the reason for your response and describe any 

suggestions for alternative approaches to small businesses.  

 

N/A. 

 

 

Q22 If either Option 2 or 3 is implemented, do you consider there to be a strong case 

to also reduce the de-minimis threshold as set out in Option 1? (P54) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



N/A. 

 

Q23 Do you think that Online Marketplaces should be obligated for unfilled packaging 

in addition to filled packaging? (P56) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

N/A. 

 

Q24 Do you foresee any issues with Online Marketplaces not being obligated for 

packaging sold through their platforms by UK-based businesses? (P56) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

N/A. 

 

 

Q25 This proposal will require Online Marketplaces to assess what packaging data 

they can collate and then, where there are gaps to work together to create a 

methodology for how they will fill those gaps. Do you think there are any barriers 

to Online Marketplaces developing a methodology by the start of the 2022 

reporting year (January 2022)? (P56) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q26 Is there any packaging that would not be reported by the obligation as proposed? 

(except for packaging that is manufactured and sold by businesses who sit below 

the de-minimis) (P59) 

a. Yes  

Page 84

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please detail what packaging would not be reported by this 

approach. 

 

N/A. 

 

Q27 Do you agree or disagree that the allocation method should be removed? (P60) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree 

c. Neither agree nor disagree 

 

N/A. 

 

 

Producer Disposable Cups Takeback Obligation 

Q28 Do you agree or disagree that a mandatory, producer-led takeback obligation 

should be placed on sellers of filled disposable paper cups? (P67) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or suggest any 

alternative proposals for increasing the collection and recycling of disposable 

cups. 

 

Q29 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed phased approach to introducing any 

takeback obligation, with larger businesses/sellers of filled disposable paper 

cups obligated by the end of 2023, and the obligation extended to all sellers of 

filled disposable paper cups by the end of 2025? (P67) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide a reason for your response and/or how you think the 

mandatory takeback obligation should be introduced for sellers of filled 

disposable cups. 

 

Modulated Fees and Labelling 

Page 85

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Q30 Do you think that the proposed strategic frameworks will result in a fair and 

effective system to modulate producer fees being established? (P72) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please provide the reason for your response being specific with 

your answer where possible. 

 

 We support the principle and application of modulated fees within the EPR 
system, to incentivise the design of reusable, durable and recyclable products. It 
is important that modulated fees are linked to long-term end markets, so that it is 
directly related to the practicalities and feasibility of collection new material 
streams. 

 However, it should first and foremost prioritise prevention and reuse of 
packaging, including refillable options as well as non-packaging applications. 
The modulated fees have the opportunity to drive waste further up the hierarchy, 
over and above recycling. 

 

 

Q31 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should decide what 

measures should be taken to adjust fees if a producer has been unable to self-

assess, or provides inaccurate information? This is in addition to any 

enforcement action that might be undertaken by the regulators. (P75) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Q32 Do you agree or disagree with our preferred approach (Option 1) to 

implementing mandatory labelling? (P82) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

 We agree with Option 1 that a selection of approved labels should be used on 
packaging to provide consumers with clear information regarding what packaging 
can and cannot be recycled. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



 However, more information is needed on how broad the number and type of 
labels that would be approved. If this does not compromise on simple information 
on recyclability, then in theory this should benefit the householder. 

 It is however important that approved labelling is determined by the roll-out of 
consistent collections, to take account of local variations during the initial stage 
of transitioning to new collection schemes. For instance, there should not be a 
blanket ‘recycle’ label for plastic films and flexibles until which point kerbside 
collections have been universally adopted or mandated. This is important to 
avoid any unintended consequences of the labelling system. 

 

Q33 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all producers could be required 

to use the same ‘do not recycle’ label? (P82) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

 Agree. If producers are required to use the same ‘do not recycle’ label, this 
would support a consistent approach towards labelling and reduce household 
confusion. The current system often leads to the same material type being 
labelled as ‘recyclable’, ‘do not recycle’ or alternatively the dubious ‘check 
locally’. 

 This should, again, be required in line with the timescales for consistency at 
which point the consistent core is universally collected. 

 

Q34 Do you think that the timescales proposed provide sufficient time to implement 

the new labelling requirements? (P82) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

 

Q35 Do you agree or disagree that the labelling requirement should be placed on 

businesses who sell unfilled packaging directly to small businesses? (P82) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



 

Q36 Do you think it would be useful to have enhancements on labels, such as 

including ‘in the UK’ and making them digitally enabled? (P83) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please state what enhancements would be useful. 

 

 This has the risk of adding complexity and confusion to a simple labelling 
system. 

 It should also be considered how containers produced abroad will be labelled, 
and whether they will need to be labelled using the binary UK-based label.  

 Digital enhancements for EPR packaging material may conflict with the proposed 
digital DRS labelling scheme.  

 

 

Q37 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities across the UK who do not 

currently collect plastic films in their collection services should adopt the 

collection of this material no later than the end of financial year 2026/27? (P85) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or what date you 

consider local authorities could collect films and flexibles from. Please share any 

supporting evidence to support your views.  

 

 We would encourage a much wider focus on waste minimisation and reuse, and 

the mandating of separate collection of plastic films and flexibles would legitimise 

more packaging, rather than encourage less. 

 Timescales for the collection of plastic films and flexibles need to be aligned with 

the development of sorting infrastructure and long-term end markets. This will 

differ across various local authorities; however, it would not be suitable for 

kerbside recycling collections to collect a material where the sorting 

infrastructure either isn’t present, or not sufficiently sophisticated to reduce any 

impacts and contamination of other polymer types. Currently the markets for film 

in the UK are still at an immature phase.  

 To reach separate collection by 2026/27, capital investment into MRFs and 

reprocessing capabilities will need to be frontloaded, and it would seem 

appropriate for this to be funded through EPR. Only following this can contracts 

and commitments be negotiated and put in place.  There will therefore need to 

be a sufficient lead-in time. 

Page 88

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



 This timescale is also contingent on the wider proposal for the collection of the 

consistent core, and how this may be collected with other material streams, such 

as cartons and non-fibre-based materials.  

 Ultimately, the requirement should therefore be focussed on ensuring that there 

is sufficient sorting and reprocessing capacity nationally by a certain deadline, as 

only this can determine a way forward. 

 

 

Q38 Do you agree or disagree that collections of plastic films and flexibles from 

business premises across the UK could be achieved by end of financial year 

2024/5? (P85) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither disagree nor agree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or what date you 

consider this could be achieved by. Please share any evidence to support your 

views. 

 

 See answer to Q37. Many of the answers are still relevant, as those local 
authorities providing trade waste services will still need to negotiate with the 
MRF for appropriate sorting and end markets. 

 Extended Producer Responsibility should also be encouraging producers to 
move away from this material to a more reusable or easy-to-recycle material, 
rather than placing a significant amount of time, effort, and investment into 
recycling it. 

 

Q39 Do you think there should be an exemption from the ‘do not recycle’ label for 

biodegradable/compostable packaging that is filled and consumed (and collected 

and taken to composting/anaerobic digestion facilities that accept it), in closed 

situations where reuse or recycling options are unavailable? (P87) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

Please provide the reason for your response.  

 

 An exemption would be too specific a scenario to have a standard arrangement, 

and present various difficulties in assessing which local authority areas, or 

indeed AD or composting facilities, are able to process biodegradable and 

compostable packaging. 

 Manufacturers are also likely to be unaware when a product or packaging is 

being produced for a closed situation such as a concert or festival. There should 

Page 89

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



be an increased focus on ensuring how these events are managed sustainably 

and offer alternative reusable or refillable packaging solutions. 

 It would present mixed messages and not support behavioural change. For 

instance, householders will query why they can recycle biodegradable and 

compostable packaging at a concert, but not at the kerbside. This is likely to lead 

to increased plastics contamination. 

 

 

Q40 Do you consider that any unintended consequences may arise as a result of the 

proposed approach to modulated fees for compostable and biodegradable 

plastic packaging? (P87) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please detail what you think these unintended consequences 

could be and provide any suggestions for how they may be avoided. 

 

 It would seem appropriate for compostable and biodegradable plastic packaging 

to attract higher modulated fees until which point they could be which would 

either enable investment in processing infrastructure or deter biodegradable or 

compostable packaging in favour of materials which can be re-used, or closed 

loop recycled. 

 

Payments for Managing Packaging Waste 

Q41 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed definition and scope of necessary 

costs? (P90) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why and provide any costs you think should be included 

under the definition of necessary costs. 

 

 We support the proposed scope for EPR local authority payments, which are 

intended to ensure that producers meet the ‘full net cost’ in the widest sense. We 

would emphasise that there are particular difficulties in defining what an ‘effective 

and efficient’ service looks like, and the challenges that this presents in rural 

areas where there are additional costs associated with service delivery. 

 Although in principle we support ‘necessary costs’ being met by producers, to 

enable local authorities to focus on providing effective services to ensure the 

Page 90

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



collection and transfer of high-quality material, we would urge caution on ‘rural’ 

and ‘very rural’ authorities being classified at outliers or inefficient. This would 

potentially penalise rural authorities, and hinder their ability to upscale their 

services, such as collecting additional material streams. 

 Additional clarity is needed on when the cost of contract change is proposed to 

be calculated, and when a contract change is deemed necessary? Also, what 

would be the approach towards local authority payments when contractors 

submit Change in Law claims. 

 Further clarity is needed on how DEFRA will differentiate between costs that a 

local authority would incur anyway, and those incurred as a result of the 

mandated change. 

 Further details are needed on the impact for a contracted-out service, such as 

receiving the payment, roles and responsibilities of various duties and reporting 

mechanisms, and costs of varying contracts. 

 The scope is not clear about covering service change costs due to implementing 

efficiencies, such as modelling and route optimisation. 

 When will costs be applied from, as it may discourage early adopters, or penalise 

local authorities that are currently considering and implementing changes due to 

contract cycles. The risk with this approach is that this could lead to inertia until 

payments are guaranteed to be paid. 

 

Q42 Do you agree or disagree that payments should be based on good practice, 

efficient and effective system costs and relevant peer benchmarks? (P96) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail any issues you think there are with this approach and how 

you think payments should instead be calculated. 

 

 In theory, we support steps to base costs around accurate ‘family groups’ 

although we are concerned over the lack of detail. Disparities will exist, even 

within authorities, and it must be considered whether 9 categories will be 

sufficient to cover full net cost recovery. We would support a transition towards 

actual payments to provide a fairer payment system, with the data recording, 

management and reporting costs paid through EPR, although the process and 

detail for submitting the data needs to be clarified at the earliest opportunity due 

to the timescales. 

 We recognise the potential for outliers to be conflated with ‘poor performers’ and 

we would urge consideration of this within the funding model. In order to take this 

into account, there should be an appeal process for local authorities to potentially 

move between family groups, if there is a case. Local authority representation in 

relation to the Scheme Administrator is also needed to counter-balance producer 

Page 91

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



representation and influence given local authorities’ role as a key part of the 

scheme. 

 We would also be cautious on the Scheme Administrator exercising an 

excessive amount of control over local authority payments, including the risk of 

centralised criteria for what an ‘effective and efficient service’ looks like such as 

financially incentivising particular collection schemes. 

 In theory, the modelled cost approach seems practical at least initially, and we 

welcome the additional work that WRAP is undertaking to ensure that ‘very rural’ 

authorities have a sufficient benchmark cost of constitutes an ‘effective and 

efficient’ waste service. We would welcome additional engagement on the 

specifics of the benchmark cost when this work is finalised to refine and fine-tune 

the accuracy of calculating costs. We would expect that the Scheme 

Administrator could assume this role in the lead-up to the roll-out of EPR. 

 Questions on how flexible the transition period will be, and whether it will allow 

WCAs and WDA to make the necessary changes in a timely and realistic 

manner. 

 Although it seems sensible for the system to incentivise local authorities to meet 

and exceed recycling performance benchmarks, what would be the review and 

monitoring mechanism for the benchmark to reflect changing circumstances and 

recycling rates? 

 The role of reuse has not been adequately addressed, and how would reuse and 

a reduction in waste arisings align with the proposed EPR framework. This is 

important as a focus on reuse and prevention may lead to a reduction in 

packaging being collected for recycling, and therefore a reduction in the recycling 

rate.  

 

Q43 Do you agree or disagree that the per tonne payment to local authorities for 

packaging materials collected and sorted for recycling should be net of an 

average price per tonne for each material collected? (P99) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail how material value should be netted-off a local authority’s 

payment. 

 

 Risk of material value should be borne by the producer, not local authorities. Due 

to their size and economies of scale, packaging producers can have more 

influence over material prices than local authorities. They are also well placed to 

change their packaging habits based on recyclability as well as consumer 

demand thereby responding to and managing market forces. 

 The proposed approach has the risk of adding bureaucracy and unnecessary 
complexity. It would need to be reviewed more regularly than on an annual basis 
to ensure fairness and to be representative of the current context. It would also 

Page 92

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



be determined by market fluctuations, and the potential for fluctuating gate fees 
which would provide little incentive or certainty for local authorities. 

 This approach would have implications for existing contracts where the waste 

management company has material ownership, and therefore receives material 

income. There are also nuances to existing local authority-MRF contracts, 

including fixed value, risk share % and rebates, which may not align neatly with 

the proposed approach. Would it be expected that this would be determined 

locally? 

 

Q44 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should have the ability 

to apply incentive adjustments to local authority payments to drive performance 

and quality in the system? (P101) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think the ability to apply an incentive adjustment 

should not apply.  

 

 In principle, we support the principle of incentive-adjusted payment to local 

authorities to drive performance and quality, however this needs to be locally 

relevant and feasible within the local and regional context. For instance, there 

may be limitations, such as demographics, household type, rurality, or local 

infrastructure, which means some local authorities may not reach a certain 

performance standard. 

 We support the Scheme Administrator having the ability to apply such incentives 

in consultation with the framework set out in the EPR scope, and in consultation 

with local authorities. Although we would support greater transparency on the 

process, performance standards and benchmarks and targeting local authorities 

for applying incentive-based payments. 

 It must also allow an opportunity for poor performers to improved. It should also 

be sufficient to make it worthwhile (i.e. cost of quality improvement is less than 

incentive-based payments to be received). 

 

Q45 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should be given reasonable time 

and support to move to efficient and effective systems and improve their 

performance before incentive adjustments to payments are applied? (P101) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



 Agree. Local authorities need sufficient amount of time to prepare for the 
transition to ‘efficient and effective systems’ as set by the Scheme Administrator. 

 The transition will depend on householder engagement as well as infrastructure, 
both of which take a long lead-in time to achieve set outcomes. 

 It should also be considered that a change or variation in contracts will be 
needed, which will also take time to develop, implement and embed. 

 

Q46 Should individual local authorities be guaranteed a minimum proportion of their 

waste management cost regardless of performance? (P101) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

Please provide the reason for your response.  

 We support a guaranteed minimum proportion of waste management costs being 

paid to local authorities, which will support a standard of service provision to 

householders without compromising on the quality and quantity of packaging 

collected.  

 Failure to guarantee a minimum proportion of waste management costs, as 

proposed in the EPR scope, would be inconsistent with the principle of full-net 

cost recovery and may mean that some local authorities are unprepared to fully 

harness the potential for future changes. 

 There is also a risk of local authorities not being treated equally, and EPR 

exacerbating inequalities and facing undue incentivisation from producers. 

 Instead, local authorities classified as ‘poor performance’ should be supported to 

tackle any localised or system-based issues which may be affecting the quality 

or quantity of packaging collected and recycling. For instance, this may include 

contamination due in part to geography and deprivation. As the proposed 

approach to EPR local authority payments includes being based on ‘family 

groups’, there is the potential to build-in payments to support the transition 

towards a more effective and efficient system whilst recognising the necessary 

timeframes to achieve EPR outcomes. 

 

Q47 Do you agree or disagree that there should be incentive adjustments or rewards 

to encourage local authorities to exceed their modelled recycling benchmarks? 

(P101) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think incentive adjustments should not be applied 

to encourage local authorities to exceed their recycling performance 

benchmarks? 

 

Page 94

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



 We would emphasise the need to prioritise prevention and reuse as well as 
recycling. Local authorities are supportive and proactive engaging householders 
in pushing waste further up the waste hierarchy. This can often result in the 
recycling rate reducing, but waste arisings also reducing. We would support this 
being incorporated into the EPR modelled benchmarks, so that local authorities 
are not unfairly penalised for implementing the waste hierarchy and reducing the 
carbon cost of the waste industry. 

 Initial funding should prioritise support for poor performers first and foremost, and 
not rewarding the high performing authorities. 

 

Q48 Do you agree or disagree that unallocated payments should be used to help 

local authorities meet their recycling performance benchmarks, and contribute to 

Extended Producer Responsibility outcomes through wider investment and 

innovation, where it provides value for money? (P102) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail how you think any unallocated payments to local 

authorities should be used. 

 

 We agree that unallocated payments should help local authorities meet recycling 

performance benchmarks. We would like further clarity from the Scheme 

Administrator on the performance benchmark which determine value for money.  

 This could be provided towards ‘middle performers’ who may see their costs be 
siphoned off to poor and high performers, contrary to full net cost recovery. This 
may create a perverse effect where they may receive additional funding if they 
dropped into the ‘poor performers’ category. 

 

Q49 Do you agree or disagree that residual payments should be calculated using 

modelled costs of efficient and effective systems based on the average 

composition of packaging waste within the residual stream? (P103) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail how you think residual waste payments should instead be 

calculated.  

 

Q50 Do you agree or disagree that a disposal authority within a two-tier authority area 

(England only) should receive the disposal element of the residual waste 

payment directly? (P103) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

Page 95

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



c. Neither agree nor disagree  

 

 Both the WCA (collection) and WDA (disposal) should receive their relevant 
residual element directly from the Scheme Administrator.  

 

Q51 Do you agree or disagree that there remains a strong rationale for making 

producers responsible for the costs of managing packaging waste produced by 

businesses? (P109) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 Yes, but there should be greater focus on businesses to produce less packaging 
waste and recycling. This would be consistent with the waste hierarchy. Concern 
that the proposed system would incentivise more packaging, not less. 

 

 

Q52 Do you agree or disagree that all commercial and industrial packaging should be 

in scope of the producer payment requirements except where a producer has the 

necessary evidence that they have paid for its management directly? (P111) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

 

Q53 Which approach do you believe is most suited to deliver the outcomes being 

sought in paragraph 8.84? (P115) 

a. Option 1  

b. Option 2  

c. Option 3  

d. All could work  

e. I do not know enough to provide a view  

 

Q54 Do you disagree strongly with any of the approaches above? (P115) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

Page 96

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please explain which and provide your reason. 

 

Q55 Do you think there will be any issues with not having either Packaging Recovery 

Notes/Packaging Export Recovery Notes or the business payment mechanism 

(and as a result recycling targets) in place for a short period of time? (P119) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please detail what issues you think there will be. 

 

Q56 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a sampling regime for 

packaging waste as an amendment to the MF Regulations in England, Wales 

and Scotland and incorporation into new or existing regulations in Northern 

Ireland? (P123) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think the proposed sampling regime for 

packaging waste should not be incorporated as an amendment to MF 

Regulations in England, Wales and Scotland and incorporated into new or 

existing regulations in Northern Ireland? 

 

Q57 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to require all First Points of 

Consolidation to be responsible for sampling and reporting in accordance with a 

new packaging waste sampling and reporting regime? (P124) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail who you think should be required to meet the packaging 

sampling and reporting regime for Extended Producer Responsibility purposes?  

 

Q58 Do you agree or disagree that the existing MF Regulations’ de-minimis threshold 

of facilities that receive 1000 tonnes or more per annum of mixed waste material 

would need to be removed or changed to capture all First Points of 

Consolidation? (P124) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

Page 97

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think a de-minimis threshold is required. 

 

Q59 Do you think the above list of materials and packaging formats should form the 

basis for a manual sampling protocol? (P126) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, what other materials, format categories or level of separation 

should be included as part of the manual sampling protocol?  

 

Q60 Do you think it is feasible to implement more rigorous sampling arrangements, as 

suggested above, within 6-12 months of the regulations being in place? (P126) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please provide the reason for your response and detail what 

should be considered in determining an appropriate implementation period. 

 

Q61 Do you think visual detection technology should be introduced from 2025 to 

further enhance the sampling regime? (P127) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please detail why you think it should not be considered as a 

medium to long-term method of sampling? 

 

Q62 Do you think existing packaging proportion protocols used by reprocessors 

would provide a robust and proportionate system to estimate the packaging 

content of source segregated materials? (P128) 

a. Yes  

b. Yes, with refinement  

c. No  

d. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please detail why you think these would not be suitable to use to 

determine the packaging content in source segregated material. 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Q63 Do you agree or disagree that minimum output material quality standards should 

be set for sorted packaging materials at a material facility? (P128) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Q64 Do you agree or disagree that material facilities that undertake sorting prior to 

sending the material to a reprocessor or exporter should have to meet those 

minimum standards in addition to just assessing and reporting against them? 

(P129) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

Q65 Do you think any existing industry grades and standards could be used as 

minimum output material quality standards? (P129) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please provide evidence of standards you think would be suitable 

for use as minimum output material standards. 

 

 The use of existing industry grades and standards as minimal output material 

quality standards would appear to be consistent with a simpler, effective system 

which would be flexible as well as reducing complexity for local authorities. This 

would obviously necessitate the standards to be reviewed and updated 

periodically, whilst remaining relevant and simple to understand. 

 

 There is the risk that if the minimum output material quality standards were 

developed and implemented separately to industry grades and specifications, 

this may increase the complexity of the system. It also risks local authorities 

collecting recycling at a standard which bears little connection with the wider end 

markets. 

 

 Misalignment between the two may also cause added confusion where a 

material may not meet the minimum output material quality, but still has access 

to stable end markets. It is vitally important that contaminated recyclate is built 

into the EPR local authority payments, and recognised that multiple social and 

Page 99

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



economic factors, as well as communications, can influence the levels of 

contamination. This should form the basis of the EPR local authority payments 

for the various groupings. 

 

 

Q66 Do you agree or disagree that local authority payments should be made 

quarterly, on a financial year basis? (P132) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or suggest any 

alternative proposals.  

 

 

Q67 Do you agree or disagree that household and business packaging waste 

management payments should be based on previous year’s data? (P132) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide any concerns you have with the proposed approach 

and/or any alternative proposals. 

 

 There are certain risks attached to basing payments on previous year’s data, 
such as not accounting for any anomalies. For instance, the Covid-19 pandemic 
is a good case in point which fundamentally changes the volume of waste and 
recycling collected at the kerbside. 

 Therefore, basing payments on a number of years or having the ability to explain 
potential anomalies may be more appropriate and a fairer way of establishing 
actual amounts. 

 Greater clarity on what data management process will be used is critical. For 
instance, the emerging digital waste data tracking system has the potential to 
simplify reporting and encourage a whole-chain approach, but the infrastructure 
needs to be adequately in place. 

 

Litter Payments 

Q68 Do you agree or disagree that the costs of litter management should be borne by 

the producers of commonly littered items based on their prevalence in the litter 

waste stream as determined by a composition analysis which is described in 

option 2? (P137) 

a. Agree  

Page 100

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or provide an 

alternative approach to litter management costs being based on a commonly 

littered basis. 

 

 We support that the scope for litter payments is broad and includes the 

prevention of litter, in addition to ‘ground litter’ and ‘bin litter’. Prevention is an 

important component to enable local authorities to upscale litter prevention 

activities and reduce litter in the longer-term. 

 

 However, we also recognise that there is not much detail on how the payments 

to local authorities would be calculated. We would expect the Scheme 

Administrator to engage with local authorities prior to the operation of the litter 

management payments. This should also include the proposed frequency, 

implementation, and auditing process for waste composition analyses, as this will 

be greatly affected by multiple factors not least the time of day that it takes place. 

The cost of waste composition analyses should be picked up through EPR 

payments. 

 

 In principle, we would support a payment system which is proportionate to 

commonly littered items, although we do recognise the challenges in ensuring 

that this system is fair and simple to operate. The benefit of this approach for 

local authorities would be an incentive for producers to manufacture products 

less prone to littering, such as removing hard-to-recycle or several component 

parts. Nevertheless, if the preferred option for litter payments from producers is 

to be borne by their prevalence in the litter waste stream, this mustn’t come at 

the expense of the timeline for litter payments.  

 

 There should be greater clarity on how efficiencies would be determined, 

including the incentive-based payment, and whether the frequency of collection 

is a suitable determining factor in an efficient service. 

 

 What would be the relationship with fly-tipping of packaging materials, which 

under the proposed scope would not be covered? 

 

 The specific details on developing and agreeing the costs of litter prevention and 

management of ground and bin litter should be shared and engaged with in 

consultation with local authorities prior to implementation. 

 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Q69 In addition to local authorities, which of the following duty bodies do you agree 

should also receive full net cost payments for managing littered packaging? 

Selecting multiple options is allowed. (P140) 

a. Other duty bodies  

b. Litter authorities  

c. Statutory undertakers  

d. None of the above  

e. Any other(s) - please specify.  

 

 Payments to non-statutory bodies may add unnecessary complications. In the 
context of voluntary litter pickers, local authorities should be given the discretion 
to pass on litter management payments to community payments. This would be 
consistent with the necessary management and due diligence of the system.  

 

Q70 Do you agree or disagree that producers should contribute to the costs of litter 

prevention and management activities on other land? (P140) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Q71 Do you agree or disagree that local authority litter payments should be linked to 

improved data reporting? (P141) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree 

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think litter payments should not be linked to 

improved data reporting.  

 

 This is dependent on multiple factors.  

 It is unclear what this means, and whether there would be much scope for 
improvement. 

 It also depends on the burden of reporting, how it takes local authorities to 
complete, what the data is going to be used for, and ultimately the benefit of the 
specified dataset. 

 It is important that any obligations in regard to data collection is picked up 
through the EPR payments. 

 Timeframes need clarified and addressed to ensure that they are realistic and 
feasible for local authorities to work towards. For instance, baseline data will 

Page 102

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



need to be established first and foremost to base payments and performance 
standards on. 

 Concern that if litter payments are reduced for reasons of data reporting, this 
would not equate to full net cost recovery. 

 

Q72 Do you agree or disagree that payments should be linked to standards of local 

cleanliness over time? (P141) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

 Disagree. It is difficult to identify how local cleanliness would be measured and 
monitored. Litter is a snapshot in time, and local cleanliness standards therefore 
have the potential to be disproportionate and unrelated to the assets and issues 
that a local area has in regard to litter. 

 Further clarity on how the location and frequency of compositional analyses 
would be determined, as this will impact on what is constituted local cleanliness. 

 Issues such as public behaviour, demography and packaging type all influence 
the litter prevalence and frequency. It is therefore necessary that the litter 
payments provide an incentive and support to move towards reducing litter, 
which should include full costs being recovery to ensure that adequate resources 
are put into place. 

 

Scheme Administration and Governance 

Q73 Do you agree or disagree that the functions relating to the management of 

producer obligations in respect of household packaging waste and litter including 

the distribution of payments to local authorities are managed by a single 

organisation? (P147) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

 

Q74 Overall which governance and administrative option do you prefer? (P147) 

a. Option 1  

b. Option 2  

c. Neither option 1 nor option 2  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Q75 How do you think in-year cost uncertainty to producers could be managed? 

(P149) 

a. A reserve fund  

b. In-year adjustments to fees  

c. Giving individual producers flexibility to choose between options 1) and 2)  

d. No preference  

e. Need more information to decide 

 

N/A 

 

Q76 Under Option 1, does the proposed initial contract period of 8-10 years (2023 to 

2030/32) provide the necessary certainty for the Scheme Administrator to adopt 

a strategic approach to the management and delivery of its functions and make 

the investments necessary to deliver targets and outcomes? (P150) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please detail what you think would be an appropriate contract 

length.  

 

N/A 

 

 

Q77 Under Option 2, does the proposed initial contract period of 8-10 years (2023 to 

2030/32) provide the necessary certainty for the Scheme Administrator to adopt 

a strategic approach to the management and delivery of its functions and make 

the investments necessary to deliver targets and outcomes? (P150) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please detail what you think would be an appropriate contract 

length. 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



Q78 Do you agree or disagree with the timeline proposed for the appointment of the 

Scheme Administrator? (P153) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

N/A 

 

 

Q79 If the Scheme Administrator is appointed in January 2023 as proposed, would it 

have sufficient time to mobilise in order to make payments to local authorities 

from October 2023? (P153) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please provide the reason for your response. 

 

 Many of the proposals set out in the EPR consultation will require the Scheme 
Administrator to consult with local authorities and other agencies on the detail of 
the system. It therefore would not seem feasible for this process to take place 
and for payment allocation to take place within 9 months. 

 

Q80 Do you agree or disagree with the approval criteria proposed for compliance 

schemes? (P156) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

N/A 

 

Q81 Should Government consider introducing a Compliance Scheme Code of 

Practice and/or a ‘fit and proper person’ test? (P156) 

a. A Compliance Scheme Code of Practice  

b. A ‘fit and proper person’ test for operators of compliance schemes  

c. Both  

Page 105

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



d. Neither  

e. Unsure  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

N/A 

 

Q82 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed reporting requirements for Option 1? 

(P157) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

N/A 

 

Q83 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed reporting requirements for Option 2? 

(P157) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

Reprocessors and Exporters 

Q84 Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all reprocessors and exporters 

handling packaging waste will be required to register with a regulator? (P164) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and detail any exemptions 

to the registration requirement that should apply.  

N/A 

 

Q85 Do you agree or disagree that all reprocessors and exporters should report on 

quality and quantity, of packaging waste received? (P164) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

Page 106

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



c. Neither agree nor disagree  

N/A 

 

Q86 What challenges would there be in reporting on the quality of packaging waste 

received at the point of reprocessing and/or export? (P164) 

Please provide specific detail on any processes, measures and/or costs that would be 

necessary to address these challenges.  

N/A 

 

Q87 Do you think contractual arrangements between reprocessors and material 

facilities or with waste collectors and carriers are a suitable means for facilitating 

the apportionment and flow of recycling data back through the system to support 

Extended Producer Responsibility payment mechanisms, incentives and targets? 

(P164) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please provide the reason for your response and suggest any 

alternative proposals for using the quantity and quality data reported to support 

payments, incentives and targets. 

N/A 

 

Q88 Do you agree or disagree that exporters should be required to provide evidence 

that exported waste has been received and processed by an overseas 

reprocessor? (P165) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think exporters should not have to provide this 

evidence.  

N/A 

 

 

 

 

Q89 Do you agree or disagree that only packaging waste that has achieved end of 

waste status should be able to be exported and count towards the achievement 

of recycling targets? (P165) 

Page 107

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think it would not be necessary for waste to meet 

end of waste status prior to export.  

N/A 

 

Q90 Do you agree or disagree that there should be a mandatory requirement for 

exporters to submit fully completed Annex VII forms, contracts and other audit 

documentation as part of the supporting information when reporting on the export 

of packaging waste? (P165) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think these additional registration requirements 

on exporters are not required.  

N/A 

 

Q91 Do you agree or disagree that regulators seek to undertake additional 

inspections of receiving sites, via 3rd party operators? (P165) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail why you think it would not be necessary to undertake 

additional inspections and provide any alternative arrangements which could be 

implemented. 

N/A 

 

Compliance and Enforcement 

Q92 Do you agree or disagree with the proposed approach to regulating the 

packaging Extended Producer Responsibility system? (P169) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please detail any perceived problem or issues with the proposed 

regulation of the system and provide comments on how the system could be 

regulated more effectively.  

N/A 

Page 108

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



 

Q93 Do you have further suggestions on what environmental regulators should 

include in their monitoring and inspection plans that they do not at present? (169) 

N/A 

 

Q94 In principle, what are your views if the regulator fees and charges were used for 

enforcement? (P171) 

N/A 

Page 109

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 – Full response to DRS Consultation 

Introduction 
 
1. What is your name? 
 
Marie Richards 
 
 
2. Marie Richards <mrichards@barrowbc.gov.uk> 
 
If you enter your email address, then you will automatically receive an 
acknowledgement email when you submit your response. 
 
 
3. Which best describes you? 
 

☐ Academic or researcher 

☐ Business representative organisation or trade body 

☐ Charity or social enterprise 

☐ Community group 

☐ Consultancy 

☐ Distributor 

☐ Exporter 

☐ Individual 

☒ Local government 

☐ Non-governmental organisation 

☐ Product designer/ manufacturer/ pack filler 

☐ Packaging designer/ manufacturer/ converter 

☐ Operator/ Reprocessor 

☐ Retailer including online marketplace 

☐ Waste management company 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 
 
 
4. What is your organisation? If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, 
what is its name? 
 
Barrow Borough Council 
 
5. Would you like your response to be confidential? 
 
If you answered 'yes' please provide your reason. 
 
No 

Page 111

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/intro/


 
6. Given the context of the Covid-19 pandemic we are currently experiencing, do 
you support or oppose our proposals to implement a deposit return scheme for 
drinks containers in 2024? 
 

☐ Support 

☐ Neither support nor oppose 

☐ Oppose 

☐ Not sure 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 

 There has been a noticeable displacement of waste and recycling to the kerbside 

waste and recycling stream since March 2020. Although some of this will be 

transient, it would be reasonable to suggest that some additional tonnage would 

remain at the kerbside due to behavioural and lifestyle changes, such as 

increased home working. However, it is difficult to estimate what the situation will 

be in late 2024. 

 For this reason, DRS therefore needs to remain flexible, but it is equally not 

feasible to delay it any further. The uncertainty on how DRS may impact local 

authority collections should be determined in line with the decision on EPR and 

Consistency, as they are natural interdependencies. 

 
7. Do you believe the introduction of a deposit return scheme will have an impact 
on your everyday life? 
 

☐ Yes, a detrimental impact 

☐ No, there will be no impact 

If you answered yes the scheme would have a detrimental impact, how significant 
would this impact be? 

☐ No significant impact 

☒ Some impact but manageable 

☐ Large impact but still manageable 

☐ Large impact and impossible to comply with 

 
N/A 
 
8. Have your views towards implementation of a deposit return scheme been 
affected following the economic and social impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic? 
 

☐ Yes - because of economic impacts 

☐ Yes - because of social impacts 

☐ Yes - because of both economic and social impacts 

☒ No 

☐ Not sure 

Page 112

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



Chapter 1: Scope of the Deposit Return Scheme 
 
9. Do you agree that the cap should be included as part of the deposit item in a 
deposit return scheme for: 
 

☒ Plastic bottle caps on plastic bottles 

☒ Aluminum bottle caps on glass bottles 

☐ Corks in glass bottles 

☒ Foil on the top of a can/ bottle or used to preserve some drinks 

 
 
10. Do you believe we have identified the correct pros and cons for the all-in and 
On-the-Go schemes described above? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 
 
11. Do you foresee any issues if the final scope of a deposit return scheme in 
England and Northern Ireland does not match the all-in decision taken in Wales? 
E.g. an On-the-Go scheme in England and an all-in scheme in Wales. 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 

 It is important that there is consistency between the DRS scope in England, 
Scotland, and Wales. Failure to achieve consistency could result in added confusion 
and complexity, especially in northern parts of Cumbria where there may be a 
differential between where people live and work.  

 An inconsistent approach would result in difficulties in the labelling system taking 
account of the differences. This would provide a challenge for material movements, 
and administrative costs to monitor and govern the two separate types of schemes. 
There would also be the risk of the scheme being open to abuse.  

 This would also be contrary to the consistency agenda which should relate to DRS 
and not just kerbside collections, and impact on effective and simple 
communications for residents. 

 
12. Having read the rationale for either an all-in or On-the-Go scheme, which do 
you consider to be the best option for our deposit return scheme? 
 

☐ All-in – General support so far 

☐ On-the-go 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.2914163951/


 

 Firstly, there appears to be an opportunity missed with not pursuing digital DRS 
from the outset of the scheme. An all-in scope under the digital DRS would have 
certain benefits, including utilising the kerbside infrastructure, reducing carbon 
costs due to the reduced need for consumer journeys, and replacing a lot of the 
need for the capital investment and roll-out of RVMs. 

 Failing the introduction of digital DRS from the outset, this would create 
complications in introducing this into the scheme several years into its rollout. 

 All-in has certain advantages such as increased consistency with Scotland and 
Wales as raised above. 

 In addition to this, all-in would result in an increased carbon benefit when 
compared to on-the-go.  

 All-in would also maximise material quantities and be easier to understand for 
the citizen. The risk with on-the-go is that it would create confusing processes 
and payment mechanisms (including separate collection of DRS materials). 
There may be a benefit in maximising the quantity of DRS materials collected 
through Reverse Vending Machines, in the absence of digital DRS. 

 All-in may also lead to less impact for WCAs, due to it leading to a reduction in 
vehicle tips because of reduced tonnages whereas on-the-go would lead to a 
reduction in volume but not to a comparable extent therefore simply reducing 
critical mass and increasing vehicle costs proportionate to material collected. 

 However, it is important that if all-in DRS is pursued, that local authorities are not 
unfairly penalised for high-value, easy-to-recycle items being diverted away from 
the kerbside. This should include a review of recycling targets. For instance, all-
in DRS would in theory allow local authorities to shift their focus on waste 
minimisation and a reduction in kerbside arisings. However, they must not be 
subject to the same tonnage-based targets as local authorities will see a fall in 
their recycling rate with DRS materials removed and replaced with the 
‘consistent core’ which will include mainly lightweight materials. 

 We support that, in theory, the costs for local of DRS materials being removed 

from the kerbside, bring sites, HWRCs would be compensated under the EPR 

system. Integration and simplicity between the two schemes, working 

complementary to Consistency, is vitally important. 

 Local authorities need to be financially supported to transition to these kerbside 

collection systems, which as a result may cost more but provide higher-quality 

recyclables for producers. We welcome that the proposed EPR local authority 

payments would provide support and funding towards the new collection system, 

although this must include transition costs and be supported by suitable and 

strong sorting systems and end markets. 

 
13. Given the impact Covid-19 has had on the economy, on businesses and 
consumers, and on everyday life, do you believe an On-the-Go scheme would be 
less disruptive to consumers? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 

 It is important that DRS is as simple and easy to understand for the householder.  

 Although there are certain benefits for an on-the-go system, all-in could prove 
easier to understand for consumers. This is because it would achieve 
consistency with Scotland and Wales and eliminate the risk of two schemes 
operating alongside each other. It would also reduce confusion on why a larger 
beverage container cannot be included in the scheme, potentially causing litter 
and frustration with the scheme. 

 
14. Do you agree with our proposed definition of an On-the-Go scheme 
(restricting the drinks containers in-scope to less than 750ml in size and 
excluding multipack containers)? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
If no, how would you change the definition of an On-the-Go scheme? 
 

 We disagree with excluding multi-packs as these are frequently consumed on-
the-go and may result in a perverse effect in increasing litter as they will be 
cheaper.  

 There may also be the effect of leading to frustration and non-compliance with 
the scheme due to it not being included in the scope, which would be difficult to 
communicate. 

 
 
15. Do you agree that the size of containers suggested to be included under an 
On-the-Go scheme are more commonly consumed out of the home than in it? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Difficult to say 

 

 Difficult to say. But we would anticipate that the majority of on-the-go containers 
would be more commonly consumed out of the house, although glass bottles or 
a larger proportion of aluminum cans may be consumed inside the house. 
However, we do not have quantitative evidence.  

 
16. Please provide any information on the capability of Reverse Vending 
Machines to compact glass? 
 

 N/A 
 
17. Do you agree that the scope of a deposit return scheme should be based on 
container material rather than product? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

Page 115

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 

 Basing the DRS scope on container material may be more confusing for 
consumers, and a product description would be easier.  This is no more relevant 
for the various types of polymers. For instance, few consumers will be able to 
determine the difference between PET bottles (included) and HDPE bottles 
(excluded). It would be clearer to understand if it was made clear what products 
were included/excluded, such as milk bottles. 

 Basing it on container materials may also lead to contaminants entering RVMs, 
such as shampoo bottles. 

 There is the potential to link those DRS materials in scope to the digital DRS, 
which may allow consumers to scan a barcode to understand whether an item is 
accepted into the scheme. 

 
 
18. Do you agree with the proposed list of materials to be included in scope? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 

 In addition to the materials included in scope, it may be worth considering 
whether cartons could be added. If digital DRS is pursued, this would then 
enable this to be coordinated with the rollout of Consistency. 

 
19. Do you consider there will be any material switching as a result of the 
proposed scope? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 

 If a fixed deposit fee is introduced, it is likely that manufacturers may switch to 
larger containers, as proportionally the deposit would be less than for a smaller 
individual container. This may lead to either increased drink waste, or larger 
portion sizes. 

 
Chapter 2: Targets 
 
20. Which of the following approaches do you consider should be taken to phase 
in a 90% collection target over 3 years? 
 

☐ 70% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 75% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 75% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☒ 80% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

 
 
21. What collection rate do you consider should be achieved as a minimum for all 

Page 116

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3169791581/


materials after 3 years? 
 

☐ 80% 

☐ 85% 

☒ 90% collection rate should be achieved for all materials 

 
 
22. Is it reasonable to assume that the same collection targets could be met with 
an on-the-go (OTG) scheme as those proposed for an all-in scheme for in-scope 
materials? 
 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
 
23. Who should report on the volumes of deposit return scheme material placed 
on the market in each part of the United Kingdom (England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland) for the proposed deposit return scheme? 
 

☐ The producer/ importer 

☐ The retailer 

☐ Both the producer/ importer and retailer 

 
N/A 
 
 
24. What evidence will be required to ensure that all material collected is passed 
to a reprocessor for the purpose of calculating the rate of recycling of deposit 
return scheme material? 
 
N/A 
 
Chapter 3: Scheme Governance 
 
25. What length of contract do you think would be most appropriate for the 
successful bidder to operate as the Deposit Management Organisation? 
 

☐ 3 - 5 years 

☐ 5 - 7 years 

☐ 7 - 10 years 

☐ 10 years + 

 
N/A 
 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3427548803/


26. Do you agree that the above issues should be covered by the tender process? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please list any further issues you believe should be covered as part of the tender 
process? 
 
N/A 
 
27. Do you agree that the issues identified should be monitored as Key 
Performance Indicators? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please list any further issues you believe should be covered by Key Performance 
Indicators? 
 
N/A 
 
 
28. Do you agree that the Government should design, develop and own the digital 
infrastructure required to register, and receive evidence on containers placed on 
the market on behalf of the Deposit Management Organisation and regulators? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 
N/A 
 
 
29. Government will need to understand the needs of users to build digital 
services for deposit return scheme. Would you like your contact details to be 
added to a user panel for deposit return scheme so that we can invite you to 
participate in user research (e.g. surveys, workshops interviews) or to test digital 
services as they are designed and built? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
N/A 
 
 
Chapter 4: Financial Flows 
 

Page 118

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3606262140/


30. What is an appropriate measure of small producers for the purposes of 
determining the payment of registration fees? 
 

☐ Taxable Turnover 

☐ Drinks containers placed on the market 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 
 
N/A 
 
 
31. Is a high level of unredeemed deposits funding the scheme problematic? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
 
32. Which option to treatment of unredeemed deposits do you support? 
 

☐ Option 1 

☐ Option 2 

 
N/A 
 
33. With option 2, do you foresee any unintended consequences of setting a 
minimum percentage of the net costs of the deposit return scheme that must be 
met through the producer fee? 
 
Are there any unintended consequences of option 2? 
 
N/A 
 
34. If a floor is set do you consider that this should be set at: 
 

☐ 25% of net costs 

☐ 33% of net costs 

☐ 50% of net costs 

☐ Other 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
N/A 
 
35. Do you agree that any excess funds should be reinvested in the scheme or 
spent on other environmental causes? 

Page 119

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 

☒ Reinvested in the scheme 

☐ Environmental causes 

 
36. What should be the minimum deposit level set in legislation? 
 

☐ 10p 

☐ 15p 

☐ 20p 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 
 
N/A 
 
 
37. Do you agree that there should be a maximum deposit level set in legislation? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 

☐ 30p 

☐ 40p 

☐ 50p 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 
 
N/A 
 
38. Recognising the potentially significant deposit costs consumers could pay on 
a multipack purchase, how best can we minimise the impact of the scheme on 
consumers buying multipacks? 
 

 A variable deposit fee may allow multipacks to be included in scope, whilst also 
ensuring that the deposit fee is proportionate to the size of the container.  

 
 
39. Do you agree with our approach to letting the Deposit Management 
Organisation decide on whether to adopt a fixed or variable deposit level, 
particularly with regards to multipacks? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 

Page 120

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 
 
Chapter 5: Return Points 
 
40. Do you agree that all retailers selling in-scope drinks containers should be 
obligated to host a return point, whether it is an all-in or on-the-go (OTG) deposit 
return scheme? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 

 There does not seem to be any plans for the return of in-score materials delivered 
as part of home delivery services. This could put elderly and housebound residents 
at a significant disadvantage as they would have to pay the deposit, but may not 
have any means of reclaiming the money. Many of these residents will be on low 
income and can ill afford additional financial burdens. Therefore, consideration 
should be given to compelling retailers, that provide a home delivery service, to 
provide a means of collecting in-scope materials and reimbursing their customers 

 
41. Given the proposed extensive distribution and availability of return points for 
consumers to return bottles to, do you think customers would be likely to 
experience delays / inconveniences in returning drinks containers? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
If so, how long or how frequently would such delays be likely to arise for? 
 
N/A 
 
 
42. Do you have a preference, based on the 3 options described, on what the 
schemes approach to online takeback obligations should be? We welcome views 
from stakeholders on who this obligation should apply to, including if there should be an 
exception for smaller retailers or low volume sales. 
 

☐ Option 1 

☐ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
N/A 
 
43. Do you agree with the proposed criteria for the calculation of the handling 
fee? 

Page 121

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4004598866/


 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Would you propose any additional criteria are included for the calculation of the 
handling fee? 
 
N/A 
 
44. Please tick which exemptions you agree should be included under the 
scheme: 
 

☐ Close proximity 

☐ Breach of safety 

 
Any further comments you wish to make. 
 
N/A 
 
45. Please can you provide any evidence on how many small and micro sized 
retail businesses we might likely expect to apply for an exemption to hosting a 
return point, on the grounds of either close proximity to another return point or 
on the compromise of safety considerations? 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
46. Do you think obligations should be placed on retailers exempted from hosting 
a return point to display specific information informing consumers of their 
exemption? 
 

☐ Signage to demonstrate they don't host a return point 

☐ Signage to signpost consumers to the nearest return point 

 
Anything else? 
 
N/A 
 
47. Do you agree with our rationale for not requiring retailers exempted on the 
basis of a breach of safety not to be required to signpost to another retailer? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
N/A 

Page 122

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 
48. How long do you think exemptions should be granted for until a review date is 
required to ensure the exemption is still required? 
 

☐ 1 year 

☐ 3 years 

☐ 5 years or longer 

 
N/A 
 
 
49. Do you think the scheme could benefit from technological solutions being 
incorporated as a method of return, alongside reverse vending machines and 
manual return points? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 

 Yes. 

 Technological solutions, such as QR codes so that householders could reclaim 
deposits from the kerbside, could be particularly useful in rural areas where 
access to return locations may be limited and may be a better option for those 
with accessibility issues. 

 If rolled out at the outset of DRS, it could utilise the kerbside scheme, discourage 
consumer journeys to RVMs and allow online shopping to be included at ease for 
instance. 

 
 
50. How could a digital deposit return scheme solution be integrated into existing 
waste collection infrastructure? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 

 A digital DRS solution should be developed and delivered with simplicity for 
householders and crews at the heart of its design. This could be achieved 
through the householder being able to scan the DRS container and payments to 
local authorities then being based on a tonnage-based payment as per the 
compositional analysis. 

 This approach would eliminate the need for a DRS label to be visible (as it may 
be broken) at the MRF. A compositional analysis would be based on a sampling 
of DRS materials proportionate to the comingled material. An all-in digital DRS 
scheme would achieve a much simpler process, as an on-the-go scheme would 
result in MRFs needing to separate containers based on size which would be 
time-consuming and difficult. 

 The careful design with consultation with local authorities will avoid the potential 
to set up confusing and unnecessary obstacles to the collection of all recyclable 
materials which may occur if it necessitates the need for bin sensor chips or 

Page 123

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



crews needing to log DRS materials at the kerbside which would be time-
consuming and disruptive. 

 This could result in changes to householders’ behaviour, and thereby increasing 
participation in kerbside recycling schemes. 

 We would expect that impacts and expectations on local authorities from a digital 

DRS approach to be clearly spelled out, including ownership of material and 

therefore material income arising from DRS material. 

 
 
51. What are the potential fraud control measures a digital deposit return scheme 
could bring? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 

 Unique bar code or QR code, so that it could only be redeemed once. 
 
 
52. Do you think a digital deposit return scheme could ensure the same level of 
material quality in the returns compared to a tradition return to retail model, given 
containers may not be returned via a reverse vending machine or manual return 
point where there is likely to be a greater scrutiny on quality of the container 
before being accepted? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 

 Clarity needed on the argument that current local authority collections do not 
deliver good quality containers for recycling. 

 How would RVMs be able to reject DRS containers which do not meet the 
desired quality threshold?  

 
53. If the digital deposit return scheme system can be integrated into the existing 
waste collection infrastructure would its implementation and running costs be 
lower? 
 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 

 Yes, as long as all set up costs and ongoing costs are fully funded by the 
scheme.  

 
54. Do you support the proposal to introduce a new permitted development right 
for reverse vending machines, to support the ease of implementation for the 
scheme? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

Page 124

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 
Do you have any amendments or additional parameters you would propose are 
reflected in the permitted development right? 
 
N/A 
 
 
Chapter 6: Labelling 
 
55. Do you agree that the following should be part of a mandatory label for 
deposit return scheme products? 
 

☒ An identification marker that can be read by reverse vending machines and manual 

handling scanners. 

☒ A mark to identify the product as part of a deposit return scheme. 

☒ The deposit price 

 

 Any DRS labelling needs to be made clear, so that it is not confused with the 
mandatory labelling as proposed under EPR. 

 
56. Are you aware of further measures that can be taken to reduce the incidence 
and likelihood of fraud in the system? 
 
N/A 
 
 
57. Do you agree with our proposals to introduce mandatory labelling, 
considering the above risk with regards to containers placed on the market in 
Scotland? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
 
58. Do you consider the risk of incorrectly labelled products entering the markets 
of England, Wales or Northern Ireland via Scotland to be a significant risk? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
 
59. Do you consider leaving any labelling requirements to industry to be a better 
option than legislating for mandatory labelling requirements? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

Page 125

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4179061498/


 
Please explain your answer. 
 
 
60. Are you aware of any other solutions for smaller producers who may not 
currently label their products? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
N/A 
 
 
61. We believe 18 months is a sufficient period of time for necessary labelling 
changes to be made. Do you agree? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
N/A 
 
 
62. Will your processes change as a result of mandatory labelling? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Don't know 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
N/A 
 
 
63. Do you agree that our proposed approach to labelling will be able to 
accommodate any future changes and innovation? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Don't know 

 
Are you aware of any upcoming technology in the field of labelling? 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

Page 126

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 
 
Chapter 7: Local authorities and local councils 
 
64. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to separate deposit return 
scheme containers either themselves or via agreements with material recovery 
facilities to regain the deposit value? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Maybe – dependent on MRF operator  
 
Please explain your answer. 
 

 Separate collection of DRS containers would lead to a significant cost for local 
authorities, which would create difficulties for the householder, collection crews 
and take up a significant amount of space on vehicles. 

 Agreements with MRFs to regain the deposit value would be dependent on the 
MRFs being able to sort the products. Also, where MRFs serve more than one 
local authority then there is a method of allocating funds accordingly. However, it 
may be possible if based on the proportion of DRS materials based on overall 
output, as per the regular compositional analysis. The analysis would be a much 
simpler approach if all-in is introduced, as it negates the need for separate 
container sizes being separated at the MRF where householders may have 
mixed these together. 

 
 
65. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to negotiate agreements with 
material recovery facilities to ensure gate fees reflect the increased deposit 
values in waste streams or a profit sharing agreement on returned deposit return 
scheme containers was put in place? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 

 Yes, although it will be dependent on numerous factors, not least at what stage 
local authorities are within their contract cycle. There will be contract variations, 
which will need to be fully funded. 

 However, negotiation may be difficult, and we would expect that a national 
framework is set to reduce the risk of MRFs being able to determine various 
different profit-sharing arrangements. 

 Some MRFs are not linked to a specific local authority, and therefore it would be 
necessary for this to be factored in. 

Page 127

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4399695754/


 Arrangements needs to be based on frequent and proportionate compositional 
analyses, which is linked to the EPR-based compositional analyses to reduce 
confusion and complexity. 

 Profit-sharing agreements also need to make clear that, in the scenario of a 
deposit already being reclaimed via digital DRS, whether local authorities would 
receive any material value from that container. 

 
66. In order to minimise the risk of double payments from the Deposit 
Management Organisation to local authorities, where should data be collected 
regarding the compositional analysis to prevent the containers then being 
allowed to be redeemed via return points? 
 

 First Point of Consolidation. 
 
 
67. How difficult do you think option 3 would be to administer, given the need to 
have robust compositional analysis in place? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 

 Waste compositional analysis needs to be carried out on a regular basis, 
perhaps quarterly, to ascertain the level of DRS materials within the overall 
output. Tonnage-based payments could be paid to local authorities based on the 
level of unredeemed deposits (if non-digital DRS, this would be 100% of DRS 
materials identified). 

 Compositional analyses will be expensive and require a shift change in existing 
arrangements. The full cost, resource, infrastructure and digital systems will 
need to be worked up with local authorities and MRF operators in advance of its 
introduction. 

 
68. What option do you think best deals with the issue of deposit return scheme 
containers that continue to end up in local authority waste streams? 
 

☐ Option 1 

☒ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 
 

 Option 2. This would be the simplest system for local authorities to decide in 
agreement with MRF operators whether to reclaim deposits for higher-quality 
DRS material or sell via the current route for a specific material value. 

 Option 2 would also achieve alignment with EPR which is necessary to ensure 
that they are not unconnected schemes, where there would be the risk of 
contradiction. 

 
 
 

Page 128

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



Chapter 8: Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement 
 
69. Are there any other producer obligations you believe the Environmental 
Regulators should be responsible for monitoring and enforcing? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
N/A 
 
70. Are local authorities (through the role Trading Standards and the Primary 
Authority Scheme) best placed to enforce certain retailer obligations? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
To what extent will local authorities be able to add on monitoring and enforcement work 
for the deposit return scheme to existing duties they carry out with retailers? 
 
 
71. In addition to those in the table, are there any other types of breaches not on 
this list that you think should be? If so, what are they? These may include 
offences for participants not listed e.g. reprocessors or exporters. 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
72. Are there any other vulnerable points in the system? 
 
If so, what? Please explain your answer  
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
73. Do you see a role for the Deposit Management Organisation to seek 
compliance before escalating to the Regulator? 
 
Yes / No Please explain your answer 
 
N/A 
 
 
74. Do you agree with the position set out regarding enforcement response 
options? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

Page 129

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4571938160/


 
If no, please explain your answer. 
 
N/A 
 
 
Chapter 9: Implementation Timeline 

 
75. Do you have any comments on the delivery timeline for deposit return 
scheme? 
 
Please pose any views on implementation steps missing from the above? 
 

 Digital DRS would delay the introduction of DRS but may result in lower 
implementation and running costs. Failure to include it at the outset would 
reduce the potential for it to be included at a later date. 

 
76. How long does the Deposit Management Organisation need from appointment 
to the scheme going live, taking into account the time required to set up the 
necessary infrastructure? 
 

☐ 12 months 

☐ 14 months 

☐ 18 months 

 
 Any other (please specify) 
N/A 
 
If other, please specify. 
 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
 
77. Depending on the final decision taken on the scope of the scheme in England 
and Northern Ireland – all-in or on-the-go – what, if any, impact does this have on 
the proposed implementation period? 
 
N/A 
 
Chapter 10: Summary Approach to Impact Assessment 
 
78. Do you agree with the analysis presented in our Impact Assessment? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

Page 130

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4830626978/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.5028524427/


 
 
 

 

 

Q95 Would you prefer to see an instant monetary penalty for a non-compliance, or 

another sanction as listed in 12.26, such as prosecution? (P171) 

N/A 

 

Implementation Timeline 

Q96 Do you agree or disagree with the activities that the Scheme Administrator would 

need to undertake in order to make initial payments to local authorities in 2023 

(as described above under Phase 1)? (P176) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.  

 

Q97 Do you think a phased approach to the implementation of packaging Extended 

Producer Responsibility, starting in 2023 is feasible and practical? (P176) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘no’, please provide the reason for your response and detail any 

practical issues with the proposed approach.  

 

Q98. Do you prefer a phased approach to implementing Extended Producer 

Responsibility starting in 2023 with partial recovery of the costs of managing 

packaging waste from households or later implementation, which could enable 

full cost recovery for household packaging waste from the start? (P176) 

a. Phased approach starting in 2023  

b. Later implementation  

c. Unsure  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

 

 Phased-in approach starting in 2023 but with local authorities being able to 
report costs for any EPR-related changes which are implemented before 2023 
due to contract cycles and variations. 

Page 131

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



 

Q99 Of the options presented for reporting of packaging data for 2022 which do you 

prefer? (P179) 

a. Option 1  

b. Option 2  

c. Neither  

If you answered ‘neither’, please suggestive an alternative approach.  

N/A 

 

Q100 Are there other data required to be reported by producers in order for the 

Scheme Administrator to determine the costs to be paid by them in 2023? (P179) 

a. Yes  

b. No  

c. Unsure  

If you answered ‘yes’, please detail which datasets will be needed. 

N/A 

 

Annex One 

Q101 Which of the definitions listed above most accurately defines reusable packaging 

and could be applied to possible future reuse/refill targets or obligations in 

regulations. (P187) 

a. Definition in The Packaging (Essential Requirements) 2015  

b. Definition in The Packaging and Packaging Waste Directive (PPWD)  

c. Definition adopted by The UK Plastic Pact/The Ellen MacArthur Foundation  

d. None of the above  

If you think none of these definitions accurately define reuse/refillable packaging please 

provide the reason for your response, including any suggestions of alternative 

definitions for us to consider. 

N/A 

 

Q102 Do you have any views on the above listed approaches, or any alternative 

approaches, for setting reuse and refill targets and obligations? (P189) 

Please provide evidence where possible to support your views.  

N/A 

 

Q103 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should proactively fund 

the development and commercialisation of reuse systems? (P189) 

Page 132

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

Please provide the reason for your response.  

 

 The EPR system should prioritise reuse, and there is the risk that if it does not 
fund the development and commercialisation of reuse systems, this would further 
prioritise recycling and increasing the amount of packaging within the economy 
which is contrary to its core environmental objectives. 

 

Q104 Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should look to use 

modulated fees to incentivise the adoption of reuse and refill packaging 

systems? (P189) 

a. Agree  

b. Disagree  

c. Neither agree nor disagree  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

 

 Modulated fees should incentivise the adoption of reuse and refill packaging 
systems. Without this, the EPR system is unlikely to have any transformational 
impact on the quantity of packaging. Attached to this is an increased carbon cost 
when decisive action is necessary to drive longer-term change. 

 Reuse and refill packaging systems are also underfunded and often delivered by 
the voluntary and community sector. Funding and modulated fees has the 
potential to upscale this activity in a way that localised action could not achieve. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 133

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



This page is intentionally left blank



           PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

26 May 2021 

Brownfield Land Release Fund  

 
   

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Director of People and Place 

Wards:    Central 

 

1.0 Summary and Conclusions  

1.1 As part of a national priority to create new homes, a new fund called the Brownfield 

Land Release Fund has been issued.  This will support the release of local authority-

owned brownfield land for housing and provides an opportunity to submit an 

application for an element of Marina Village.   

1.2 The application deadline is 2 June 2021 and this report is asking for delegated authority 

to be given to Director of People and Place to submit an application within a short 

timeframe.   

2.0  Recommendation  

 

To delegate approval to the Director of People and Place to submit an application 

for Marina Village to the Brownfield Land Release Fund by 2 June 2021. 

 

3.0 Background  

 

3.1 All English local authorities are eligible to apply for the new Brownfield Lane Release 
fund, with the exception of the seven Mayoral Combined Authorities and their 
constituent lower tier authorities that have already had the opportunity to receive 
funding under the £400 million Brownfield Fund. (Greater Manchester, Liverpool City 
Region, North of Tyne, Sheffield City Region, Tees Valley, West Midlands and West 
Yorkshire). 

3.2 The aims of the Brownfield Land Release Fund are to: 

 release local authority owned land by the end of March 2024 for housing development 
that otherwise would not come forward during that period 
  

 encourage the use of public assets to drive innovative delivery, through SME support, 
bespoke delivery models, high-quality design and modern methods of construction 
  

 demonstrate a return for Government investment into these small sites 
  

Page 135

Agenda Item 13



 enable schemes to deliver within the funding timescale. 

3.3 The funding is focussed on sites typically accommodating up to 250 homes, but larger 
sites may be considered by exception. Conversations have been held with central 
government around submitting an application for an element of Marina Village as it is 
being treated in phases and this has not been identified as an issue.   

3.4 The funding will provide upfront capital to address viability issues arising from 
abnormal costs of the proposed development. The types of abnormal costs requiring 
funding may include: 

 site levelling, groundworks, demolition 
 provision of small-scale infrastructure 
 highways works or other access challenges 
 addressing environmental constraints. 

3.5 Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (CLEP) are currently considering a submission 
for remediation of the first phase of Marina Village.  A further £1m Towns Fund project 
for Marina Village is being developed to full Business Case by the Council and the 
scope of this and the application to Brownfield Land Release Fund will be dependent 
on the outcome of the CLEP decision.   

3.6 The application to Brownfield Land Release Fund will be in the region of £1m.   

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 Consultation will take place as part of any future site development if the application is 
successful.  

 
5.0 Alternative Options  

 

5.1 To not submit an application and not explore a funding opportunity to release an 

element of a brownfield site for housing.   

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The Council Plan key priority is to ensure that residents are at the heart of all that the 
Council does and to provide quality affordable housing.  If successful, this funding 
would provide some enabling works for housing to be undertaken. 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1 Capital funding secured for Marina Village will be reflected in the Capital 

Programme.  Procurement of works and services will be carried out in accordance with 

procedure. 

 

Legal  

7.2 If funding approved then a legal agreement may be needed. Appropriate legal advice 

will be sought throughout the process. 

 

 

Page 136

Agenda Item 13



Equality and Diversity  

7.4 There are no issues to raise in this report.    

Risks 

 

7.5 A risk register will be developed for the project if the application is successful.   

 

Contact Officers  

Steph Cordon:  Director of People and Place 

scordon@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

 None 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

  

 

  

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

26th May 2021 

Heating and Ventilation Service Contract 
 

 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Chris Jones 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  The report updates Members on the recent tender exercise for the services 

contract for maintenance of Heating and Ventilation equipment in the Council’s 

operational buildings 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee:-  

 

(1) Approves that the current services contract for maintenance of heating 

and ventilation is extended to 1 September 2021 to allow for the tender 

exercise to be re-run. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 The Council’s heating and ventilation equipment is currently serviced and 

maintained through a formal contract. This contract was formally extended until 

31 March pending a retender of the contract (minute 66 11/11/20 refers) 

 

3.2 The contract covers all of the Council’s operational buildings, including the Town 

Hall, Forum, Dock Museum, Market Hall, Crematorium, etc. as well as Changing 

Rooms, some commercial buildings such as Waterfront Gateway and a number 

of community centres. The contract was tendered for two years with an option to 

extend for a further year. 

 

3.3 The contract was advertised on the Council’s procurement portal “The Chest”. 

Despite a large number of contractors expressing an interest in the opportunity, 

only one contractor returned a tender. This tender is not priced as per the 

instructions in the tender and can therefore be ruled out as not valid. 

 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 14



 

 

3.4 Furthermore, it also appears that a number of contractors who expressed 

interest in the opportunity did not receive the tender documents through the 

system automatically as they should have done. 

 

3.5 For this reason it is recommended that the contract is retendered, and the 

existing contract arrangements  formally extended to 1 September. This 

extension will give time to review the tender documents to try to attract a better 

conversion of expressions of interest into tender returns and for the tender 

process to be re-run. A report recommending appointment will be brought to the 

meeting of Executive Committee on 28 July 2021. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

 None 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 Option 1: cease the service. This is not practical for property management and 

health and safety reasons 

 

5.2 Option 2: extend the current contract long-term. The contract has been running 

for a number of years and it would not be appropriate to continue long term 

without testing the market. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 This is a cross-cutting issue that underpins our ability to provide the full range of 

services 

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 This is a procurement of an existing contract. The contract sum is met from 

existing budgets 

 

Legal  

7.1.2 The Council will need to enter into a formal contract with the successful supplier 

 

Equality and Diversity  

7.2 No direct Equality and Diversity implications. 
 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Re-tender is unsuccessful Extend the current 

contract or retender 

again 

Review tender 

documents to maximise 

response 

Page 140

Agenda Item 14



Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

New tender is more 

expensive 

Increased cost or 

reduced service to 

within budget 

Reviewed tender 

documents set service at 

appropriate level 

 

Contact Officers  

Chris Jones cwjones@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

1 Tender documents held on The 

Chest 

2 

From report author 

  

Page 141

Agenda Item 14

mailto:cwjones@barrowbc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	8 Terms of Reference
	9 Drop Zone Youth Project Presentation
	10 Cumbria CVS
	Enc. 1 for Cumbria CVS

	11 Job Evaluation
	12 Barrow Borough Council's Responses to DEFRA's Consultation on the Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging and the Deposit Return Scheme
	Appendix 1 EPR Relevant Questions
	Appendix 2 DRS Relevant Questions amended DS
	Appendix 3 Full EPR Consultation
	Appendix 4 Full DRS Consultation

	13 Brownfield Land Release Fund (BLRF)
	14 Heating and Ventilation Service Contract
	15 Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management

